
 
 

 
Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 

 

Continued… 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

Date Wednesday, 21 October 2020 Time 2.00 pm 

Venue Remote Meeting 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Jayne Clarke / Kieran Robinson 01952 383205 / 01952 
382061 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer Valerie Hulme – Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager 

01952 384130 

 

Committee Membership: Councillors N A Dugmore, I T W Fletcher, J Jones, J E Lavery, R Mehta, 
K Middleton, P J Scott, C F Smith (Chair) and C R Turley (Vice-Chair) 

  
Substitutes: Councillors G H Cook, V A Fletcher, R T Kiernan, J Loveridge, 

S J Reynolds, G C W Reynolds, K S Sahota, W L Tomlinson and 
D R W White 

 
Scan the code with your smartphone to view this agenda and reports online at 
www.telford.gov.uk/meetings  

 
 

AGENDA 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting Appendix A 3 - 10 
 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
  

4.   Deferred/Withdrawn Applications 
 

  

5.   Site Visits 
 

  

6.   Planning Applications for Determination Appendix B 11 - 12 
 Please note that the order in which applications are heard may be 

changed at the meeting.  If Members have queries about any of the 
applications, they are requested to raise them with the relevant 
Planning Officer prior to the Committee meeting. 
 

  

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

6.1.   TWC/2016/0555 - Land South of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge, 
Telford, Shropshire 

Appendix C 13 - 70 

6.2.   TWC/2020/0168 - Land adjacent 23 Wellington Road, Muxton, 
Telford, Shropshire 

Appendix D 71 - 88 

6.3.   TWC/2020/0466 - Land west of Lawford Close, Off Majestic Way, 
Aqueduct, Telford, Shropshire 

Appendix E 89 - 
106 

  

Page 2



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 23 

September 2020 at 2.00 pm in Remote Meeting 
 

 
Present: Councillors N A Dugmore, R T Kiernan (Reserve) (as substitute 
for I T W Fletcher), J Loveridge (Reserve) (as substitute for J Jones), 
K S Sahota (Reserve) (as substitute for R Mehta), P J Scott, C F Smith 
(Chair) and C R Turley (Vice-Chair) 
 
In Attendance: A Gittins (Area Team Planning Manager - West), V Hulme 
(Development Management Service Delivery Manager) and I Ross (Legal 
Adviser) 
 
Apologies: Councillors I T W Fletcher, J Jones, R Mehta and K Middleton 
 
PC102 Declarations of Interest 
 
Cllr Kiernan declared an interest in planning application TWC/2020/0624 due 
to his involvement with the Free Masons but had not been involved in any 
discussions on this application. 
 
PC103 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee 
held on 02/09/2020 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman 
 
PC104 Deferred/Withdrawn Applications 
 
None. 
 
PC105 Site Visits 
 
None. 
 
PC106 Planning Applications for Determination 
 
Members had received a schedule of planning applications to be determined 
by the Committee and fully considered each report and the supplementary 
information tabled at the meeting regarding  
TWC/2020/0446 - Site of Haughmond Court & Apley Court, Dothill, Telford, 
Shropshire 
TWC/2020/0410 - Site of Doseley Industrial Estate, Frame Lane, Doseley, 
Telford, Shropshire 
TWC/2020/0624 - Site of Masonic Hall, Constitution Hill, Wellington, Telford, 
Shropshire 
TWC/2019/1042 - Former Concrete Works, Lightmoor Road, Lightmoor, 
Telford, Shropshire. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

PC107 TWC/2019/1042 - Former Concrete Works, Lightmoor Road, 
Lightmoor, Telford, Shropshire 

 
(Cllr Kiernan returned to the meeting for this agenda item) 
 
This was an application that sought reserved matters approval for the erection 
of 52no dwellings including details for scale, appearance and landscaping  
pursuant to outline application TWC/2016/0107.  
Amended plans relating to the external design of the buildings, floorspace and 
garden requirements, the retaining walls and the ecological corridor to the 
north were submitted during the course of the application. These were all 
submitted at the request of the Planning Officer and consultees. 
 
Mr Wennington – member of the public spoke against this application. He 
shared his concerns for the Great Crested Newt’s habitats as they were within 
close proximity to the proposed site as they are protected creatures. The 
development and removal of trees may cause a detrimental effect on them. 
Mr Wennington also shared his concerns regarding potential flooding within 
the area and sought assurance on these concerns. 
 
Mr Gittins – Planning Officer, assured the committee that £10,000 had been 
secured in order to protect the Great Crested Newts and the Shropshire 
Wildlife Trust were in conversation with the developers regarding the situation 
and details of the habitats will need to be submitted. 
The Ecology Team were satisfied with the proposal and there had been no 
objections from the Tree Officer. A construction exclusion zone had been 
planned to address any concerns regarding the wildlife within the vicinity. 
 
Members raised concerns regarding drainage and the significant surface 
water increase that had been seen more in recent years that may not have 
been taken into account within the allowance for climate change statistics. 
 
Mr Gittins – Planning Officer explained that an ecological buffer and a 
relocated footpath had been formalised through this application proposal and 
that, although a larger drainage system to drain in excess of 1 in 100 year 
events would be beneficial, it is not possible to request a system to 
accommodate in excess of such an event.   
 
On being put to the vote it was, unanimously:  
 
RESOLVED – that in respect of planning application TWC/2019/1042 
delegated authority be granted to the Development Management Service 
Delivery Manager to grant Reserved Matters subject to the conditions 
and informatives (with authority to finalise conditions and reasons for 
approval to be delegated to Development Management Service Delivery 
Manager) set out in the report. 
 
PC108 TWC/2020/0410 - Site of Doseley Industrial Estate, Frame 

Lane, Doseley, Telford, Shropshire 
 

Page 4



 

 

This application sought full planning permission for the erection of 48 
dwellings on land at Doseley Industrial Estate, Doseley and was referred to 
Planning Committee as a section 106 is required to secure financial 
contributions and affordable housing. 
 
Cllr Hopkins – Parish Council Representative spoke against this application. 
He raised concerns that the site was not disused and there were businesses 
still trading on the industrial estate whom would like to continue operating 
there. He shared concerns that the developers were looking to purchase the 
land and sell it for profit rather than to invest in business and jobs within the 
area. He shared that if the application were to be approved this would 
increase strain on highways and cause on road parking. 
 
Cllr Seymour - Adjoining Ward Councillor (representing Cllr Jayne Greenaway 
– Ward Councillor) spoke against this application. She shared that the site 
provided work spaces for small to medium businesses and was unable to 
accommodate large HGV vehicles. Some of the businesses who currently 
reside on the industrial estate have not been able to relocate as there was 
nowhere similar to meet their business needs within the borough. Cllr 
Seymour shared her concerns that developers were looking for a housing for 
profit scheme over a working site. The area would need to be levelled as in its 
current state, it was too steep for use. The off-site play area was too far away 
for potential residents to make use of. Frame Lane was very narrow with 
intermittent footpaths making it inaccessible. There had been no bus service 
for the area since July 2018. 
 
Mr Hooper – Agent for Applicant, spoke in favour of the application. He 
informed the Committee that the site was currently used as an industrial site, 
however the buildings had become tired and needed updating. The current 
site caused noise nuisance to residential properties and therefore the 
applicant had been working with these businesses to secure alternative 
premises for them. The site provided good access and new pedestrian route 
was proposed. A s106 agreement would be entered into to ensure funding for 
local schools and highways. 
 
Mr Gittins – Planning Officer explained to the Committee that the loss of land 
for employment purposes was key issues and that it was a balanced case.  
The principle of the proposed redevelopment of the site for residential 
purposes could be supported as the site was not an allocated employment 
site. Businesses would receive help to relocate. A new access was proposed 
to include a pedestrian  footpath provided across the site frontage.  There 
would be minimal impact on traffic along with a reduction of HGV’s and LGV’s. 
The Conservation Officer was content with scheme and there had been no 
objections from internal consultees. 
 
Members raised questions regarding possible land contamination and 
highways improvements. They were concerned with the potential demolition of 
industrial units that were still in use and the financial impact that would have 
on the businesses. Members sought clarity on the education and highways 
contributions within the s106 agreement.  

Page 5



 

 

Mr Gittins – Planning Officer explained that the Streetworks Team were 
looking at improvements to Frame Lane and was due to go out to 
consultation.  
 
Ms Hulme – (Development Management Service Delivery Manager) informed 
members that the plans for highways were part of a wider scheme that 
included traffic calming. There were also plans for a bus service to be 
reinstated. 
 
Upon being put to vote, it was unanimously: 
 
Resolved: that in respect of planning application TWC/2020/0410 
delegated authority be granted to the Development Management Service 
Delivery Manager to grant full planning permission subject to: 
 
A) the applicant/landowners entering into a Section 106 with the Local 
Planning Authority (subject to indexation from the date of committee 
with terms to be agreed by the Development Management Service 
Delivery Manager) relating to: 
 
i) Highways contribution of £25,000 
ii) Playspace and public open space contribution of £31,850 
iii) Education contribution of £316,562 
iv) Provision of 25% affordable housing 
 
B) The conditions and informatives (with authority to finalise conditions 
and reasons for approval to be delegated to Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager) set out in the update report. 
 
PC109 TWC/2020/0446 - Site of Haughmond Court & Apley Court, 

Dothill, Telford, Shropshire 
 
This application was called to Committee at the request of Cllr Karen 
Tomlinson. 
 
The application sought full planning permission for an 81 unit Extra Care 
Facility owned and operated by Wrekin Housing Trust on a social rented 
basis, comprising 38no one bedroom and 43 two bedroom apartments. A 
ground floor café, lounge area and hairdressers for use by residents and 
members of the public would be provided and termed the Community Hub; 
with buggy store, ancillary office accommodation, laundry and plant. The 
accommodation is proposed to be delivered across each floor, comprising a 
mass of five and six storey heights (at the northern Apley Court end) which 
are shown to alter across the site depending on the changing site levels. 
 
Mr Camp – Member of the public spoke against this application. He shared 
with the Committee that his objections relate to the cutting down of trees, in 
particular, a cherry tree. He believed that cutting down healthy trees was not 
in keeping with the current climate emergency and his thoughts were shared 

Page 6



 

 

by other objecting members of the public. He shared the statistics regarding 
the death rate in Telford that relates to poor air quality.  
 
Cllr K Tomlinson – Ward Councillor, spoke against this application. She raised 
concerns regarding the removal of trees, over development and the lack of 
consultation due to COVID-19. The updated proposal sought to build closer to 
the road and therefore will reduce the size of the existing car park.  
 
Ms Heather Sutton – Agent for the Applicant, spoke in favour of the 
application. She shared that the proposed application would address the 
current shortage of supported living accommodation within the area. The 
application sought the removal of the current 9 storey building with a view to 
replacing it with a 5/6 storey building.  The development would be delivered in 
2 phases to allow current residents the option to stay in their homes until their 
new property is ready to move in to. With regards to tree removal, 7 trees 
would be removed and of which were 3 dead/unhealthy. 22 new trees were 
proposed to be planted and would include maple and cherry trees to represent 
the original ones.  The proposed building would be contemporary energy 
efficient and high quality. 
 
Mr Gittins – Planning Officer informed the Committee that the updated plans 
were closer to Severn Drive than previously proposed. Special attention had 
been paid to the windows and balconies. With regards to the tree removal, 
there would be an increase of 15 semi mature trees. The development would 
provide extra care facilities. Any harm would be outweighed by the benefits.  
 
Members of the Committee welcomed this application as it would address the 
need for more supported accommodation. Concerns were raised with regards 
to the size of the refuse storage area and accessibility for refuse collection 
and emergency vehicles. Questions were raised regarding the consultation. 
 
Ms Hulme – ((Development Management Service Delivery Managerjob) 
explained to Members of the Committee that the consultation went out in 
June, with the deadlines for comments being 3rd July. This was then extended 
to 10th July. This followed the standard 21 day consultation period. 
 
Upon being put to vote, it was unanimously: 
 
RESOLVED: That in respect of planning application TWC/2020/0446 
delegated authority be granted to the Development Management Service 
Delivery Manager to grant full planning permission subject to the 
conditions and informatives (with authority to finalise conditions and 
reasons for approval to be delegated to Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager) set out in the update report. 
 
PC110 TWC/2020/0624 - Site of Masonic Hall, Constitution Hill, 

Wellington, Telford, Shropshire 
 
Ms Hulme made the Committee aware that the proposed site has been 
subject to enforcement complaints. These complaints we investigated and 

Page 7



 

 

then further investigated. The findings were that there had been an increase 
of ground level for the proposed application and therefore offered apologies 
on behalf of the Planning Department that this issue had not been identified 
sooner. 
 
This application sought a minor material amendment to a scheme that was 
granted planning permission under reference TWC/2019/0711.  The material 
amendment relates to the finished floor levels (FFL) of the dwellings being up 
to 500mm higher than approved. 
 
Cllr Carter – Ward Councillor, spoke against this application. He shared with 
Committee that the local residents were unhappy due to the impact of the 
stark development that was overlooking their properties. The proposed 
development was now on a larger scale than first agreed. Residents’ 
complaints consisted of loss of light and privacy due to the extra height and 
noise increase.  
 
Mrs Lloyd – Member of the public, spoke against this application.  She raised 
her concerns regarding overdevelopment of the area and believed that the 
developer saved money by not lowering the ground. She raised concerns that 
residents were not consulted and raising fence height would not lower the 
height of the houses. 
 
Mr Knight – Applicant, spoke in favour of this application. He shared with the 
Committee that he worked for a small loyal workforce with the proposed 
application being their 4th site since 2014 and was purchased with planning 
permission. They were not a large scale building company and unfortunately 
had no knowledge of the height error originally. The reason for the error was 
due to the service plan with the floor level not being transferred to the report. 
Plans included the addition of trees within the boundary. He informed 
Committee that the raise in the height of the fences would be in accordance 
with height of the properties.  
 
After clarification from the Legal Adviser regarding the general position 
relating to members’ interests and committee decision making, Cllr Kiernan 
withdrew from the Committee meeting for this application saying that he would 
not be staying or voting on this application due to any potential conflict of 
interest due to his Free Mason membership. 
 
Members stated that they had found the site visit useful and did not feel the 
increased height of 48cm would make much of a difference to the current 
residents view. Proposed tree planting was sufficient and the development 
would improve the area. A member raised questions regarding the number of 
parking spaces for residents. 
 
Ms Denmark – Planning Officer, informed the Committee overdevelopment, 
scale, noise disturbance, highways and overshadowing were considered and 
deemed acceptable. Additional landscaping and higher fences would 
contribute to making the development acceptable. The original application’s 

Page 8



 

 

parking did comply previously and provided garages remain as garages then 
parking will comply. Measures will be in place to prohibit garage conversions. 
 
Upon being put to vote, it was unanimously 
 
RESOLVED: that in respect of planning application TWC/2020/0624 
delegated authority be granted to the Development Management Service 
Delivery Manager to grant full planning permission subject to the 
conditions and informatives (with authority to finalise conditions and 
reasons for approval to be delegated to Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager) set out in the report. 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 3.52 pm 

 
Chairman:   

 
Date: 

 
Wednesday, 21 October 2020 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS  

 

The Background Papers taken into account when considering planning applications 
on this list include all or some of the following items.  Items 1 to 4 are included on the 
file for each individual application. 
 
1. Application:  includes the application form, certificate under Section 65 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act, 1990, plans, and any further supporting 
information submitted with the application. 

 
2. Further correspondence with applicant: includes any amendments to the 

application – including any letters to the applicant/agent with respect to the 
application and any further correspondence submitted by the applicant/agent, 
together with any revised details and/or plans. 

 
3. Letters from Statutory Bodies:  includes any relevant letters to and from the 

Parish Councils, Departments of Telford & Wrekin Council, Water Authorities 
and other public bodies and societies.  

 
4. Letters from Private Individuals:  includes any relevant letters to and from 

members of the public with respect to the application, unless the writers have 
asked that their views are not reported publicly. 

 
5. Statutory Plans and Informal Policy Documents:  some or all of the following 

documents will comprise general background papers taken into account in 
considering planning applications in the administrative area of Telford and 
Wrekin (“Telford and Wrekin”) 

 
a)  Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 11th January 2018) 

including any Neighbourhood Plans 
b)  Telford and Wrekin Supplementary Planning Documents:  

 Design for Community Safety SPD (adopted June 2008);  

 Telecommunications Development SPD (adopted May 2009); and  

 Shop Fronts, Signage and Design Guidance in Conservation Areas 
SPD (adopted April 2012) 

c) Government Planning Guidance – National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), Planning Practice Guidance and Circulars 

d) Town and Country Planning legislation, case law and other planning 
decisions and articles 

 
 
6. Past decision notices and reports referred to in specific reports. 
 
7. The following additional documents (if appropriate):-  

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2016/0555  
Land South of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge, Telford, Shropshire 
Erection of 1no. detached dwelling accessed off New Road ## AMENDED PLANS 
## AMENDED DESCRIPTION ##  
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Mrs Pettit 24/06/2016 
 
PARISH                                WARD 
The Gorge                                Ironbridge Gorge 
 
THE APPLICATION IS BEING REFERRED TO THE PLANNING COMMITTEE AT 
THE DISCRETION OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICE 
DELIVERY MANAGER 
 
Online planning file: 
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-
applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2016/0555 
 
1. SUMMARY RECOMMENTATION  

 
1.1  It is recommended that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the 

Development Management Service Delivery Manager to REFUSE 
PLANNING PERMISSION for the reasons set out in the report below.  

 
2. PROPOSAL 

 
2.1 This is a full application for the erection of a new dwelling located within the 

grounds of a property known as Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge.  Access 
would be from New Road. 
 

2.2 The proposed dwelling would be two storey and would have 4 bedrooms.  
Due to the terraced nature of the site it would need to be constructed on a 
plinth.  

 
2.3 The application is supported by the following:  

- Design and Access Statement 
- Heritage Statement 
- Planning Statement 
- Ecology Report 
- Coal Mining Risk Assessment 
- Ground investigation report 
- Tree survey 

 
2.4 Amended drawings relating to the external design of the building have been 

provided.  Due to the time the application has been under consideration an 
updated Ecological Impact Assessment has been submitted. 

 
2.5 Pre-application advice was sought in respect of these proposals back in 2015 

as part of a scheme for two dwellings to be erected on land owned by 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6a

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2016/0555
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2016/0555


 

 

 

Loadcroft.  The proposals related to a different design of dwelling, being 
single span only, unlike the current proposals relating to a dwelling with two 
rear gables, thus increasing the bulk of the building. 
 

2.6 Subsequently, three planning applications were submitted.  TWC/2016/0553 
related to the erection of a detached dwelling to the north east of this 
application site.  This was for a similar designed dwelling the subject of these 
proposals.  TWC/2016/0554 related to the demolition of Loadcroft, a 
bungalow, and the erection of a replacement two storey dwelling, similar to 
that approved under TWC/2016/0553.  These applications were approved on 
31 October 2019.   
 

2.7 The two dwellings that were approved under TWC/2016/0553 and 
TWC/2016/0554 had their vehicular access from Severn Terrace.  This 
proposal seeks to have its access from New Road close to the junction with 
the Wharfage. 
 

3. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS  
 

3.1 The application site is located within the built up area of Telford and Wrekin, 
within The UNESCO Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site and Severn Gorge 
Conservation Area. There are a number of Listed Buildings bordering the site 
to the east, south and south-west. The site is located in an elevated position 
on land to the south of Loadcroft visible from the Wharfage to the south.   
 

3.2 The site is located within Stability Zone 4 where ground movement imposes 
significant constraints.  
 

3.3 Existing public foul and surface water sewers runs through the site from 
Severn Terrace to the north, down to New Road to the south. The proposed is 
located to the west of these providing the requisite easement.    

 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
4.1 TWC/2016/0553:  Erection of 1 no. detached dwelling.  Land east of 

Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge.  Full granted 31/10/2019. 
 

4.2 TWC/2016/0554:   Erection of replacement dwelling following demolition of 
existing dwelling ‘Loadcroft’, utilising existing access off Lincoln Hill - Full 
granted 31/10/2019. 

 
4.3 TWC/2011/0410:  Terracing of slope and landscaping and planting works 

(retrospective).  Application withdrawn 30/06/2011. 
 
4.4 W2003/0046:  Erection of 3 detached dwellings with attached/detached 

double garages and construction of new vehicular/pedestrian accesses with 
alterations to existing.  Withdrawn 16/01/2004. 

 
 
 

Page 14



 

 

 

5. RELEVANT POLICY DOCUMENTS 
 

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
5.2 Telford and Wrekin Local Plan (2011-2031) 

 
SP1   Telford 
SP4 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
HO1   Housing requirement 
NE1 Biodiversity and geodiversity  
NE2    Trees hedgerows and woodlands 
NE6 Green Network 
C3 Implications of development on highways 
C5  Design of parking  
BE1  Design Criteria 
BE3    Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site 
BE4    Listed buildings 
BE5    Conservation areas 
BE9 Land stability  
ER12 Flood Risk Management 

 
6. NEIGHBOUR REPRESENTATIONS 
 
6.1 Neighbouring occupiers were consulted upon receipt of the application with 

two letters have been received raising the following objections: 
 

 Concerns regarding the stability of the site. 

 Concerns also raised in respect of drainage.   

 Concerns about construction impacts on listed buildings. 

 Impacts on setting of listed buildings. 

 Site has been terraced without planning permission. 

 Impacts on World Heritage site. 

 Impacts on Reynolds Tunnel. 

 Requirement for platform for dwelling emphasises scale. 

 Site and New Road offers respite from noise and pollution along 
Wharfage. 

 Creation of parking area would erode character of World Heritage Site 
and Conservation Area. 

 
6.2 Former Councillor Nicola Lowery also raised objections to the proposals 

regarding stability, concerns regarding Reynolds Tunnel, impacts on the 
World Heritage Site.  Concerns regarding impacts on infrastructure due to 
cumulative impacts with other approved developments in the area.  

 
7. STATUTORY REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Standard Representations: 
 
7.1 The Gorge Parish Council: Object.  Concerns regarding stability of site. 

Page 15



 

 

 

7.2 Shropshire Council Archaeology, TWC Ecology, Drainage and Highways raise 
no objections subject to conditions. 
 

7.3 The Coal Authority raises no objections to the proposals. 
 

7.4 Conservation Officer:  Objects.  Due to the loss of open or green space, and 
imposition of a boundary form and hard landscaping out of character with the 
historic environment, there would be harm to the settings of a number of listed 
buildings, and the character and appearance of the CA and WHS.   The 
development would therefore be contrary to BE3, BE4 i., vi & viii and BE5 of 
the Local Plan.  The harm identified would be ‘less than substantial’ in the 
terminology of the NPPF, although at the higher end of the spectrum.  The 
NPPF is clear that this should still be given ‘great weight’, with ‘…the more 
important the asset, the greater the weight…’ (NPPF para 193).  A World 
Heritage Site is the highest level of heritage importance.  The benefit of 
providing one additional house in the wider area would not outweigh the 
harms to significance of the heritage assets. 
 

8 APPRAISAL 
 

8.1 Having regard to the development plan policy and other material 
considerations including comments received during the consultation process, 
the main planning considerations are: 
 
- The principle of residential development 
- The impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 

and World Heritage Site, and setting of listed buildings 
- Impact on neighbouring amenities 
- Drainage and flooding 
- Slope stability 
- Highways 
- Ecology 

 
8.2 The principle of development 
 
8.2.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

planning applications must be determined in accordance with the adopted 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this 
instance, the development plan consists of the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 
(TWLP). The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out policy 
guidance at a national level and is a material consideration in planning 
decisions. 
 

8.2.2 The site is located within the Telford built up area where the principle of new 
build development is generally acceptable and is therefore in accordance with 
the general principles of Policy SP1. 
 

8.3 Impact on Conservation Area and World Heritage Site, and setting of listed 
buildings 

 

Page 16



 

 

 

8.3.1 The site is located in a prominent position adjacent within the World Heritage 
Site and the Conservation Area.  It is visible from public vantage points 
including New Road, Wharfage, the Ironbridge, Bowers Yard and Severn 
Terrace. 
 

8.3.2 The site is currently presented as a green backdrop to the buildings located 
along the Wharfage and the properties at the western end of New Road.  This 
is even more apparent when viewed from more distant viewpoints such as the 
Ironbridge and Bower Yard. 
 

8.3.3 One of the key elements of the Outstanding Universal Value of the Ironbridge 
Gorge is its substantial remains of traditional landscape.  The landscape is 
described as being a crucial part of the property, and it needs to be managed 
as a coherent whole, with key views across the valley identified and protected. 
 

8.3.4 In terms of the authenticity of the Gorge, in particular the urban and rural 
patterns, these have retained their essential and authentic historic character.  
This mining landscape is vulnerable to incremental changes, which over time 
could impact the character of the valley.   
 

8.3.5 The Severn Gorge Conservation Area Management Plan requires Heritage 
Statements to identify whether the proposed site was always vacant and 
should justify why it should now be developed.  It is also a requirement for the 
Heritage Statement to demonstrate how the vacant site sits within the historic 
environment in the past and now, and to demonstrate that the development 
will preserve and/or enhance the context of the historic setting. 
 

8.3.6 The Heritage Statement submitted with the planning application identifies that 
the site was undeveloped as shown on the 1849 Tithe map, and subsequent 
maps from 1884, 1903, 1928 and 1948.  The Statement refers to the site not 
being individually identified as having any particular character in the 
Conservation Area and World Heritage Site Appraisal of 2016.  However, it 
does not address the requirement to assess the site as set out above. 
 

8.3.7 The site has not previously been developed.  Historic maps indicate limekilns 
and shafts, and the Reynolds Tunnel of 1800, identified as a non-designated 
heritage asset by the County Archaeologist.  As such, the Conservation 
Officer interprets the site as part of the overall industrial landscape, a view 
with which the officer agrees.   
 

8.3.8 The further intensification of built form on this site visible from public vantage 
points such as the Wharfage, a principal route through the World Heritage 
Site, Severn Terrace and Bowers Yard, would be harmful to the significance 
of the area and its authenticity.     
 

8.3.9 It is noted that planning permission has already been granted for the erection 
of a two storey dwelling to replace the bungalow known as Loadcroft, and a 
further two storey dwelling located to the east.  The erection of a further 
dwelling to the south would interfere with the cross-valley views from Severn 

Page 17



 

 

 

Terrace.   
 

8.3.10 The proposed access and parking area would introduce a suburban 
appearance, increasing the visual impact of the development close to the 
junction between New Road and Wharfage.  Whilst this is close to the built-up 
frontage to the river, it will introduce a car dominated aspect close to the main 
route through the World Heritage Site.  The visual impacts of the car parking 
area and access would be exacerbated by requirement to remove existing 
hedgerow and vegetation within the visibility splays should planning 
permission be granted.  This is a requirement in order to satisfy the Highway 
Officer regarding highway safety.   
 

8.3.11 The site is located in an area adjoined by a number of listed and non-
designated heritage assets.  The proposed building will be seen in the context 
of these assets, in particular 17-19 Wharfage and 1 New Road.  This 
relationship is more apparent from distant views, in particular from some 
public vantage points along Wharfage, the Ironbridge and Bowers Yard.  
When viewed from Severn Terrace there will be views of the proposed 
dwelling in context with the rear elevations of listed buildings, in particular 19 
Wharfage. 
 

8.3.12 The proposed dwelling will erode the sense of space around these designated 
heritage assets, impacting on their setting.  This would be exacerbated by the 
elevated nature of the proposed dwelling and the extensive area of car turning 
and parking hardstanding. 
 

8.3.13 The proposal would result in less than substantial harm to the designated 
heritage assets.  This is judged at being at the higher end of the spectrum.  As 
such it is necessary to assess whether there are sufficient public benefits to 
outweigh the harm.  The public benefits would amount to a single market 
dwelling in an area where it is possible to demonstrate a 5 year housing land 
supply.  There are minimal public benefits arising from the delivery of a single 
dwelling and these would not outweigh the less than substantial harm, 
particularly when it has been judged at being at the higher end of the 
spectrum.  The proposals are therefore contrary to Policies BE3, BE4 and 
BE5 paragraph 196 of the NPPF. 
 

8.4 Impact on neighbouring amenities 
 
8.4.1 The application site lies to the south of an existing residential property known 

as Loadcroft, which now has planning permission to be demolished and 
replaced, alongside a new dwelling to the east of Loadcroft.   

 
8.4.2 There will be approximately 28.5m separation distance between the rear 

elevation of the proposed dwelling and the replacement dwelling on Loadcroft.  
The proposed dwelling is set at an oblique angle with the new dwelling 
approved to the north east and there would be approximately 24m between 
the side elevation of this proposed dwelling and the front elevation of the 
approved. 

Page 18



 

 

 

8.4.3 The Council’s guidance is that there would be 21m between two building 
faces for 2 storey dwellings, with the separation distance being increased by 2 
metres for every 1 metre rise in ground level between new and existing 
dwellings.   
 

8.4.4 The details submitted with this application indicate that the proposed dwelling 
would be constructed on a platform at 55m AOD.  The section drawings for 
the replacement dwelling at Loadcroft indicate that dwelling would be 
constructed at 65m AOD.  Therefore, on the basis of the guidance it is 
recommended that the separation distance be 41m.  However, given the 
differences in land levels and the height of the dwellings, views from the 
replacement dwelling at Loadcroft would largely over sail the rear elevation of 
this proposed dwelling.  Residential amenity could be further protected by the 
erection of appropriate boundary screening.   
 

8.4.5 Given the orientation of the dwelling, no overlooking, overshadowing or 
overbearing impacts will arise with neighbouring properties. 
 

8.5 Drainage and flooding 
 
8.5.1 A public foul and surface water sewer run through the middle of the site.  The 

application has taken this into account and the proposed dwelling has been 
located to the west of the sewer and as such is unlikely to result in adverse 
harm to the sewer.   

 
8.5.2 In terms of drainage, subject to a condition requiring a scheme of foul and 

surface water drainage to be submitted and approved, the proposals are 
supported. 
 

8.6 Slope stability 
 
8.6.1 The site is located in Stability Zone 4. In addition, Reynolds tunnel crosses the 

southern part of the field below the development plots. The tunnel is a single 
skinned brick lined linear void approximately 2m in height which can be 
accessed immediately to the west of the site (with permission). It is imperative 
therefore that the loadings from the development are designed to not cause 
local shallow stability issues which trigger a landslide. 

 
8.6.2 Ongoing discussions have been held between the applicants agent and 

Geotechnical Consultant with the Councils Geotechnical Engineer further 
investigations were undertaken and it was confirmed by the applicant that 
were the tunnel ever to collapse, it would be unlikely to trigger any large scale 
movement and only result in a depression of 100mm deep at the surface. As 
the proposed dwelling is located 15m away from the tunnel it is considered to 
be outside the zone of influence. 
 

8.6.3 Precautionary measures have been suggested in the form of bi-annual 

inspections looking at potential collapse and signs of structural damage.  

 

8.6.4 The Council’s Geotechnical Engineer has confirmed that they are satisfied 

Page 19



 

 

 

with the recent submissions (Letter from H. S. Lister received 02 August 
2019) and the proposed precautionary measures. 
 

8.6.5 It is considered that the investigations and measures proposed are acceptable 
to the local authority and are also in accordance with paragraphs 178 and 179 
of the NPPF where responsibility for securing a safe development rests with 
the developer and/or landowner.  

 
8.7 Highways 
 
8.7.1 The proposed dwelling would be served by an access taken from New Road, 

close to its junction with Wharfage.  The site has been designed to 
accommodate a turning and parking area free from the highway to enable 
vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear.   

 
8.7.2 Sufficient information has been submitted with respect to sight visibility from 

the access and the speed of vehicles.  Given the narrow characteristics of 
New Road and the location of the proposed access it is accepted that visibility 
splays can be achieved.  However, this will require the removal of existing 
hedgerows and vegetation which will increase the visual impact of the 
proposals on the conservation area, as discussed above. 
 

8.7.3 The proposals have been found to be acceptable to the Highways Officer 
subject to conditions. 
 

8.8 Ecology 
 
8.8.1 The application has been submitted with an Ecological Assessment. This has 

been assessed by the Council’s Ecologist who has no objection subject to 
conditions and informative(s) as it is possible to conclude that there is no 
reasonable likelihood that the proposal will cause harm to protected species.  
Due to the amount of time this application has been with the authority for 
determination officers were of the view that the ecological survey was now out 
of date.  An updated Ecological Assessment has been submitted and this too 
has been assessed by the Council’s Ecologist who has confirmed their earlier 
recommendation still stands. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
9.1 The application site is located in a sensitive location within the Severn Gorge 

World Heritage Site and Conservation Area, adjacent to a number of listed 
buildings.  The site is undeveloped and historical records indicate that the site 
has never been developed.  Unauthorised terracing works have been 
undertaken in the past that have changed the character of the site.  The site is 
a greenfield site and provides a landscaped backdrop to the heritage assets 
fronting onto Wharfage.  It is part of the Outstanding Universal Value of the 
Gorge and is an element that has been identified as needing to be managed 
and sensitive to incremental change. 

 
9.2 The site is visible from various vantage points within the Gorge and the 

Page 20



 

 

 

introduction of a dwelling on this site would be harmful to the setting of the 
various heritage assets.  This less than substantial harm is considered to be 
at the higher end of the spectrum and there are insufficient public benefits to 
outweigh the harm.   

 
10. RECOMMENDATION 

 

10.1 Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning 
Committee on this application is that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to 
the Development Management Service Delivery Manager to REFUSE 
PLANNING PERMISSION for the following Reason: 

 
1) The application site is a previously undeveloped site forming part of the 

urban and rural landscape which is an important element of the 
Outstanding Universal Value of the Severn Gorge World Heritage Site, 
sensitive to incremental change.  The proposed dwelling together with its 
loss of vegetation around the proposed access would result in the loss of 
this site, impacting on the openness of the Severn Gorge Conservation 
Area and affecting the setting of adjacent listed buildings which maintain 
their long standing setting.  This would be less than substantial harm at 
the higher end of the spectrum.  There are insufficient public benefits 
arising from the proposals to outweigh the harm, as set out in paragraph 
196 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  The proposals are 
therefore contrary to Telford and Wrekin Local Plan Policies BE3, BE4 
and BE5 (adopted 2018). 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2020/0168  
Land adjacent, 23 Wellington Road, Muxton, Telford, Shropshire 
Erection of 41no. dwellings with associated parking and access infrastructure  
***AMENDED DESCRIPTION & AMENDED PLANS RECEIVED***  
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Central & Country Developments Ltd SSAS &  
Wrekin Housing Trust 

24/02/2020 

 
PARISH WARD 
Donnington and Muxton Muxton 
 
DONNINGTON AND MUXTON PARISH COUNCIL HAS REQUESTED THAT THIS 
APPLICATION IS DETERMINED BY MEMBERS OF PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS ARE SOUGHT TOWARDS PLAY AND OPEN 
SPACE AND HIGHWAYS 
 
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-
applicationsummary.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2020/0168 
 
1.0 SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION 

 
1.1  It is recommended that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the 

Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT PLANNING 
PERMISSION subject to Condition(s), Informative(s) and s.106 Contributions. 

 
2.0  SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The 1.23 hectare application site is located within Muxton and is within the 

built up area of Telford and Wrekin. The site, which was formally occupied by 
Midlands Ironworks, sits to the north of Wellington Road, with School Road to 
the west and Kingsley Drive and Chiswick Court to the north. All buildings 
relating to the ironworks have since been removed and the site is currently 
overgrown with mixed scrub and vegetation. 

 
2.2 The site is fairly level and is enclosed by brick and stone walls along 

Wellington Road except for existing closed off access points. The remainder 
of the site is enclosed by a variety of boundary treatments mostly enclosing 
neighbouring gardens. 

 
2.3 The surrounding area contains a mixture of 19th and 20th Century dwellings, 

primarily detached and semi-detached. There is a small parade of shops at 
the end of Wellington Road at the nearby junction with School Road and 
within the wider surrounding area there are shops, restaurants and a garden 
centre. 

 
 
 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 6b

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2020/0168
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2020/0168


 

 

 

3.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
3.1 This application seeks Full Planning Consent for the erection of 41No. 

dwellings including associated parking, access and infrastructure. The 
application has been subject to amendments following Officer and consultee 
comments and this has resulted in a reduction from 45No. dwelling units in 
addition to a series of layout changes. A re-consultation process has taken 
place following these amendments. 

 
3.2 The development would provide a mixture of dwelling types including 1-

bedroom apartments, 3 bungalows and 2, 3 and 4-bedroom houses. The 
development would provide a density of approximately 33dph (30dph in 
respect of buildings). 

 
3.3 It is proposed that the site will be for 100% Affordable Rent with Wrekin 

Housing Trust the Registered Provider. 
 
3.4 The development would provide a total of 80 parking spaces (including 

garages). 
 
3.5 The application is supported with a full planning pack including the following: 
 

- Design and Access Statement 

- Planning Statement 

- Transport Assessment 

- Flood Risk Assessment 

- Arboriculture, Ecology and Ground Investigation Reports. 

 

3.6 In addition to the above, the application has been submitted with a Viability 
Appraisal which the Local Planning Authority has had independently 
assessed. The outcome of the viability appraisal is that the site can only 
sustain a reduced level of Financial Contributions totalling £55,581 which 
takes into consideration that the scheme is being delivered as a 100% 
Affordable Housing scheme with all of the units to be affordable rented tenure 
at 80% of Market Rent, assisted by Homes England grant funding. There are 
also a number of abnormal costs associated with the development of a 
brownfield site with previous industrial activity. It is also agreed that as a result 
of viability, the proposed dwelling are not required to meet the Nationally 
Described Spaces Standards (NDSS). This is on grounds that the market 
value for the dwelling types in the location is essentially fixed and rental value 
would not increase to cover the additional construction costs, therefore 
impacting detrimentally on viability.  

 
3.7 The application is therefore subject to the following financial contributions: 
  

- Strategic Highway Network Contribution of £35,387.24; 

- Recreation Contribution £20,193 towards the upgrade of existing 

recreation facilities at Donnington Recreation Ground. 

 

Page 72



 

 

 

Site History 
 
3.8 The application site has extant consent for residential development under the 

New Towns Act (approved July 1989) and previous Outline Planning Consent 
was granted for residential development in January 2008. The later consent 
was extended in 2011 to allow a longer period for the submission of Reserved 
Matters, however no Reserved Matters application was forthcoming and this 
consent has since expired. 

 
4.0 RELEVANT POLICY DOCUMENTS 
 
4.1  National Guidance: 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
4.2  Local Development Plan: 
 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 
 
4.3 Neighbourhood Plan: 
 

The Donnington and Muxton Neighbourhood Development Plan (Reg. 15 - 
March 2020) 

 
5.0  SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 

Local Member and Town/Parish Council Responses:  
 
5.1 Donnington and Muxton Parish Council: Comment - the Parish Council raised 

no objections to this application. The Parish do however request that the 
Highway contributions are used to improve the junction of Wellington Road 
and School Road which they wish to raise as a significant concern in terms of 
highways capacity and highways safety. 

 
Standard Consultation Responses (Based upon re-consultation for 
Amended Plans) 

 
5.2 Highways: Support subject to Condition(s). The amended submission has 

address a number of concerns originally raised. As such the highways officer 
raises no further objections subject to conditions and s.106 contributions. 

 
Whilst the LHA does not have any objections in principle to the proposals 
there is still some doubt as to whether the site roads can be adopted. To the 
east there is the structure of the culvert and a query whether that will clash 
with any drainage of the road which remains unanswered. 

 
Recommended conditions including full details including drainage of roads, a 
construction management plan and a condition ensuring roads and footways 
related to or serving a property are completed prior to occupation.  

 

Page 73



 

 

 

In addition this site attracts a contribution of £35,387.24 towards the strategic 
highway network to be secured by S106.  This a proportional contribution 
based on the scale of this development. 

 
Officer Comment – It should be noted that in the submitted comments, the 
LHA raised concerns about the form of the western junction and suggested 
that this needed to be widened to accommodate larger vehicles. The applicant 
has submitted further amended drawings to overcome these concerns. 

 
5.3 Drainage: Support subject to Condition(s). Noted that as part of the 

conditions, detailed designs are required for the attenuation, flow control and 
culvert crossing. 

  
Condition(s) requested in respect of: 

 
- Scheme for Surface Water Drainage; 

- Detailed design for replacement culvert; 

- SUDS Management details; 

- Exceedance flow routing plans for 1 in 100+30% event. 

 
5.4 Ecology: Support subject to Condition(s) and Informative(s) relating to 

Lighting Plan and being undertaken in accordance with submitted Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal (PEA). 

 
5.5 Arboriculture: Support subject to Condition(s) and Informative(s) in 

respect of landscaping scheme and tree protection fencing. 
 
5.6 Education: No objection subject to s.106 Contributions - £148,466 towards 

Primary and Secondary Education. 
 
Officer Note – Taking into account the submitted viability reports and following 
the request for the strategic highways contribution by the LHA, the Education 
Officer has verbally indicated to the Case Officer that the remaining 
contribution would be insufficient to spend and therefore a request for the 
remaining contribution was not made. 

 
5.7 Healthy Spaces: Comment. A long term Management Plan is required for all 

areas of open space within the development other than small private gardens. 
A contribution towards local play and open space was also requested. 

 
5.8 Affordable Homes: Comment. This application proposes a wholly affordable 

development of 41No. houses, bungalows and apartments of between one 
and four bedrooms. There is a continuing under supply of affordable homes in 
Telford & Wrekin, particularly homes for rent. The most recent Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for the borough identified an annual 
shortfall of around 665 affordable homes, with gross new supply currently 
around half of this (2016). The Design & Access Statement (p. 11) notes that 
the development will all be for affordable rent, at rent levels of up to 80% of 
open market rent levels. The majority of the homes will have driveway or 

Page 74



 

 

 

curtilage car parking. The affordable homes should be transferred to an 
appropriate Registered Provider. These homes should be retained as 
affordable in the long term as far as possible. They should also be exempted 
from the Voluntary Right to Buy Scheme. The Registered Provider should be 
required to agree a Local Lettings Plan and enter into a formal Nominations 
Arrangement with the Council prior to any of the homes being advertised, 
allocated or occupied. 

 
5.9 Shropshire Fire Service: Comment: It is vital a robust Swept Path Analysis is 

undertaken throughout this development, in order to accurately track the 
suitability of access for fire appliances. Consideration should be given to the 
“Fire Safety Guidance for Commercial and Domestic Planning Applications.” 

 
5.10 West Mercia Police: Comment. Request that the applicant seeks to achieve 

Secured by Design (SbD) Award status for the development. 
 
6.0  SUMMARY OF PUBLIC RESPONSE 
 
6.1 A total of 17 comments and objections have been received during the 

consultation periods. Some of these comments support the re-use of a 
brownfield site. 

 
The following concerns and objections have been raised.  

 
- Highways issues including highways capacity especially at nearby junction 

with School Road, vehicles exiting site and on-street parking; 

- Flooding Issues including existing flooding issues in locality; 

- Impact upon local wildlife and ecology; 

- Impact on local schools and doctors facilities; 

- Impact upon existing neighbouring properties. 

 
6.2 Full copies of consultation responses are available on the Council’s planning 

online website: https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-
applicationresponses-public.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2020/0168. 

 
7.0  PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
7.1 Having regard to the Development Plan Policy and other Material 

Considerations including comments received during the consultation process, 
the planning application raises the following main issues: 

 
- Principle of Development 

- Scale and Appearance 

- Highway Implications 

- Drainage 

- Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity 

- Ecology and Trees 

- Planning Obligations 

Page 75

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationresponses-public.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2020/0168
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationresponses-public.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2020/0168


 

 

 

 
7.2 Principle of Development  
 
7.3 In accordance with national planning policy guidance, applications that accord 

with an up to date development should be supported without delay unless 
material planning considerations indicate otherwise.   

 
7.4 The application site sits in the built up area where residential development is 

supported in accordance with Telford & Wrekin Local Plan Policy SP1. As 
noted in the site history earlier in this report, the site has been earmarked for 
residential development since the New Towns Act (1989) and following this 
the submission of an outline application (approved 2009). Since then the site 
has remained unallocated white land in both the previous and current versions 
of the local plan and is therefore suitable for development subject to the 
relevant planning polices contained within the Telford and Wrekin Local Plan. 
It is therefore considered that the principle of residential development within 
the application site is acceptable. 

 
7.5 In addition to the above, moderate weight is afforded to the Donnington and 

Muxton Neighbourhood Plan due to its stage in the adoption process. Whilst it 
has passed the Reg. 14 (Draft Plan Consultation) Stage, the plan awaits 
further consultation by the Council and Independent Examination prior to it 
being made by the Planning Authority. Policy H1 of this plan supports housing 
development on sites with committed development and on windfall sites and 
seeks under Policy H2 that the development is of a quality place-led design. 

 
7.6 Scale, Appearance and Layout 
 
7.7 Officers are satisfied that the scale and appearance of the proposed 

development is acceptable. The proposal provides a mixture of property types 
and sizes as required by TWLP Policy HO4 whilst also proposing a 100% 
affordable scheme for which there is a significant need in the Borough. The 
development provides an attractive layout that seeks to use the constraints of 
existing vehicular and pedestrian access points onto Wellington Road. 

 
7.8 Officers have worked with the applicants to ensure a suitable layout that 

respects the overall character and appearance of the area. Amended plans 
have been received since the original submission of the application following 
the request of officers. 

 
7.9 Whilst it is noted that the proposed dwellings do not meet NDDS standards, 

all remain of a suitable size and layout, in keeping with other Wrekin Housing 
Trust Developments in the Borough. On balance, the provision of 100% 
Affordable Housing overcomes any concerns in this regard. As noted earlier in 
this report, the applicant has demonstrated viability constraints in accordance 
with Policy HO4. 

 
7.10 The proposed development would achieve a density of approximately 30 

dwellings per hectare which whilst higher than dwellings along Wellington 

Page 76



 

 

 

Road would not appear cramped or overbearing. It is considered the 
development makes best use of previously development land. 

 
7.11 The applicant has submitted a materials plan indicating a mix of red facing 

brick work and chalk coloured render along with grey coloured doors and 
windows and two different roof tiles. As the bricks are yet to be confirmed a 
condition will be attached requested details of materials prior to the 
commencement of development. 

 
7.12 The proposal is therefore compliant with Policy BE1 of the Telford & Wrekin 

Local Plan. 
 

Highway Implications  
 
7.13 It is acknowledged that one of the more significant concerns raised by local 

residents is the impact the development would have upon the existing 
highway network and in particular the nearby junction with School Road. It is 
also noted that the Parish Council has requested that contributions from the 
development go towards improving this nearby junction. 

 
7.14 The application is supported by a Transport Assessment which has been 

considered, along with the application plans, by the Council’s Highways 
Engineers. No objections have been raised in respect of the impact of 
vehicular movements upon the existing highway network. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that there will be an increase in vehicle numbers using local 
roads, it cannot be demonstrated that this would cause such harm as to 
refuse the application on highways grounds. 

 
7.15 It is noted that the current application requires a contribution of £35,387.24 

towards the Strategic Highways Network. This is proportional based upon the 
size of the development and can be used to support improvements to the 
existing road network.  

 
7.16 Officers are satisfied that there is adequate parking within the proposed 

development to help avoid unnecessary on-street parking. Each 2 and 3-bed 
house is afforded two spaces, the two 4-bed units are afforded 3 spaces and 
the 1-bed apartments are afforded 1 space with an additional visitor space 
provided for each of the two blocks. 

 
7.17 The application site is also located immediately adjacent to a bus stop (No.5) 

which runs between Stafford Town Centre and Telford Town Centre via 
Newport and provides a service which staggers between an hourly and half 
hourly service depending on the time and day. A Sunday service is also 
provided. 

 
7.18 Based upon the above it is considered that the proposed development 

complies with Polices C4 and C5 of the Local Plan. 
 
 
 

Page 77



 

 

 

7.19 Drainage 
  
7.20 The Council’s Drainage Officer raises no objections to the proposed 

development subject to conditions requiring further details of surface water 
drainage and design details of drainage features including for the culvert that 
crosses the eastern part of the site.  

 
7.21 Officers note local concerns in respect of flooding. The applicant has 

submitted a Flood Risk Assessment with the application which has guided the 
layout of the development and the use of surface materials. The Drainage 
Officer has raised no objections to the details provided and as such, it is 
considered that the development complies with the relevant drainage Policies 
ER11 and ER12 contained within the Local Plan. 

 
7.22 Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity 
 
7.23 The proposed development would not directly affect the amenities of 

neighbouring occupiers by way of loss of light or loss of privacy. Officers are 
also satisfied that the development provides suitable levels of private amenity 
within the site including adequately sized private gardens which are of least 
10 metre depth where adjoining existing neighbouring gardens. As such, 
officers are satisfied the development complies with Policy BE1 of the Local 
Plan. 

 
7.24 Ecology and Trees 
 
7.25 In addition to providing ecology surveys for the site, the applicant has 

provided a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan (Redkite, July 2020). This plan 
also indicates replacement tree planting for the site. The Council’s Ecologist is 
satisfied that there would not be any adverse harm upon wildlife and has 
requested conditions ensuring that the scheme is developed in accordance 
with the preliminary surveys and enhancement scheme.  

 
7.26 Further to the above, the Council’s Tree Officer has considered the applicant’s 

submitted arboriculture report with mitigation measures and raises no 
objections subject to conditions relating to landscaping and the protection of 
all trees that are to be retained throughout the development of the site.  

 
7.27 As a result, the proposed development complies with Polices NE1 and NE2 of 

the Local Plan. 
 
7.28  Planning Obligations  
 
7.29 The proposed development meets the requirement to provide contributions as 

directed through the local plan. As noted earlier in this report, the application 
has been submitted with a Viability Appraisal which has been independently 
assessed on behalf of the Local Planning Authority. As a result of this 
Assessment, Officers are satisfied that the findings and conclusions of the 
viability report are acceptable. As such, in order to ensure that the scheme for 

Page 78



 

 

 

100% affordable units is viable, a limit on the contributions normally requested 
by the LPA would be set at £55,581. 

 
7.30   The views of the Parish Council have been taken into account when 

considering the distribution of the available contribution and has been done in 
consultation with the affected departments. Whilst it should be noted that the 
Strategic Highways Network Contribution is proportionate for the size of the 
site and would not cover the total costs for junction improvements, ensuring 
monies are made available for these improvements ensures the request from 
the Parish Council can be met. 

 
7.31 The views of the Education team were taken into account and it was agreed 

that given the low amount of the remaining contribution figure it would not be 
suitable for any use. As a result, it has been agreed in further consultation 
with the Healthy Spaces Officer that the remaining monies would be 
requested towards local open space and games facilities at the existing 
Donnington Recreation Grounds which is within walking distance of the 
development. Whilst no Education Contribution would come forward as a 
result of this development, Officers consider that on balance, this is 
compensated by the provision of much needed affordable housing on a 
previously developed site that this development would bring forward. 

 
7.32 The proposed contributions to be sought via a s.106 Agreement are therefore 

as follows: 
 
7.33 Highways:  
 

- Strategic Highway Network Contribution of £35,387.24. 

 
7.34 Recreation: 
  

- £20,193 toward the upgrade of the existing NEAP on Kesworth Drive. 

 
7.35 In determining the required Planning Obligations on this specific application 

the following three tests as set out in the CIL Regulations (2010), in particular 
Regulation 122, have been applied to ensure that the application is treated on 
its own merits: 

 
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 

terms; 
b) directly related to the development; 
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 

development. 
 
8.0  CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 The principle of residential development on this site is considered acceptable. 

The site is available white land within the local plan and has previous outline 
consent for residential. 

 

Page 79



 

 

 

8.2 The scale, design and layout of the development is considered acceptable 
and with a density of approximately 33 dwellings per hectare it would be 
consistent with similar developments approved within the Borough. The 
development provides reasonably sized gardens for all dwellings and parking 
requirements comply with guidance contained within the Local Plan. Officers 
are satisfied that the development would provide a good mix of house types, 
sizes including bungalows, 1, 2, 3 and 4-bedroom units. 

 
8.3 Although the development will create some additional traffic, it is not 

considered that this would cause sufficient detriment to warrant refusal of the 
application. The application site is in a sustainable location close to local 
facilities and near to an adjacent bus stop. Concerns regarding impact upon 
the nearby Junction between Wellington Road and School Road is noted. 
Whilst the development does not necessitate junction improvements on its 
own merits, a strategic highways contribution is required in accordance with 
the local plan which could eventually be used towards this project. 

 
8.4 Tree and Ecology matters can be sufficiently dealt with through appropriate 

conditions. 
 
8.5 The Drainage Officer raises no objections to the proposed development but 

requires additional technical information to ensure surface water drainage of 
the site is acceptable and avoids local flooding. These details will also include 
the design and management of the culvert that crosses the site. 

 
8.6 Officers have considered the benefits of the proposed development against 

the inability to provide all the requested contributions due to the viability of 
delivering this development. Officers are of the view that in this instance, the 
benefits of the re-use of this site along with the provision of a fully Affordable 
Housing scheme and the continued contributions towards highways and open 
space/local play provision outweighs this issue and therefore on balance, 
there are no grounds to warrant refusal of the application. The proposal 
therefore complies with the relevant policies contained within the Local Plan 
and National Planning Policy Guidance. 

 
9.0  RECOMMENDATION  
 
9.1 Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning 

Committee on this application is that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted 
to the Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT 
PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following: 

 
A.  The following contributions to be agreed through a s.106 Agreement: 

 
1. Highways: 

Strategic Highway Network Contribution of £35,387.24. 

2. Recreation: 

 £20,193 towards the upgrade of the existing facilities at Donnington 

Recreation Ground. 

Page 80



 

 

 

3. Affordable Housing: 

To provide within the development that 100% of all Dwellings 

constructed shall be for Affordable Housing and passed onto an 

appropriate registered provider. 

B.  The Following Condition(s): 
Time Limit – Full 

Materials Conditions 

Landscaping Conditions including landscape management 

Highway Conditions including highways details, lighting and 

construction management. 

Drainage Conditions 

Ecology Conditions  

Tree Protection 

Development in Accordance with Plans 

 
 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Central & Country
Developments Ltd.

Project No. - Drawing No. - Rev.

K943-016(G)

Client

Date

Draw
n

Che
cke

d

App
rov

edRevisions

Proposed Site Block Plan
Drawing Title

Project

Wellington Road, Muxton

DJD Architects
2 St Oswald's Road, Worcester  WR1 1HZ
t: 01905 612864   f: 01905 610011
mail@djdgroup.co.uk
www.djdgroup.co.uk/architects/

Drawing Scale & Format

Drawing Status

PLANNING

pdf

1:500 @ A1 dwg

NOTE:
Do not scale except for planning purposes.  All dimensions to be checked on
site.  This drawing is copyright and may not be reproduced without written
consent.

All works to be carried out in accordance with relevant British and European
Standards and Codes of Practice.  All products to be CE marked and used in
accordance with manufacturer's recommendations and applicable BBA
certificates.  Any conflicts to be notified to the architect immediately.

This drawing to be read in conjunction with all relevant Architect's and other
Specialists drawings, details and specifications.

1:50
1:100
1:200
1:500

0
0
0
0

0.5m
1m
2m
5m

1
2
4

10

1.5
3
6

15

2
4
8

20

3.5m
7m

14m
35m

1:1,250
1:2,500

0
0

10m
20m

20
40

30
60

40
80

50
100

90m
180m

2.5
5

10
25

3
6

12
30

60
120

70
140

80
160

N

35

31

10

8

30a

32a

27

24

3232

34

25

28

38

LB

29

22

SC
H

O
O

L R
O

AD

WELL
IN

GTON R
OAD

16a

Treasure Trove

22a

22b

Shelter

21

19

25

Car Park

KINGSLEY DRIVE

2

4

5

1

2

6

16

2

CHISW
ICK COURT

10

Unit
s

1

2

19a

20a

18

18a

20

16

3

16

PO

TRAFALGAR CLOSE

WELLINGTON ROAD

WELLINGTON ROAD

Asphalt Residential Access Way
(shared surface), adoptable, to
engineer's design.

Asphalt Residential Access Road,
adoptable, to engineer's design.

New low level shrubs / planting,
planting specification to LPA approval.

New trees,
planting specification to LPA approval.

Existing trees retained.

Indicative existing tree canopy / green
margin cut back/trimmed.

Site Plan Key

Asphalt private driveway and parking
spaces to engineer's design.

Concrete slab private paths to
engineer's design.

Existing adjacent properties.

Space for Local Authority wheelie bins.

Timber shed, 1830 x 1220.

Rotary washing line.

Boundary treatments. Refer to current issue of
drawing K943-018 for proposed boundary
treatment plans.
Line of Culvert and easement, as engineer's
design.

Bin store & collection point

Bin store/collection point & cycle store (metroSTOR
PCH 24 Series cycle parking hub or similar.)

4
4

3
3

7

7

8

8

9

9

10

10

11

11
12

12

13

13

14

14

15
15

32

32

32

33

33

34

34

35

35

36

36

37

37

38
38

39
40 41

41

Existing tree canopy / green margin retained

refer to Landscape and Ecology Biodiversity Strategy

v

Existing tree canopy / green margin retained

refer to Landscape and Ecology Biodiversity Strategy

Exis
ting tre

e ca
nopy / 

green margin re
tained

refer to
 Landsca

pe and Ecology B
iodive

rsit
y S

tra
tegy

Exis
ting tre

e ca
nopy / 

green margin re
tained

refer to
 Landsca

pe and Ecology B
iodive

rsit
y S

tra
tegy

6

6

1

5

5

1

2

2

29
29

28
28

31

31

30

30

27

27

1

22

22

23

23

24

24

18
19

20
21

V

16
16

17
17

25

25
26

26

Retain existing boundary wall

Asphalt Residential Access Way
(shared surface), adoptable, to
engineer's design.

Asphalt Residential Access Road,
adoptable, to engineer's design.

New low level shrubs / planting,
planting specification to LPA approval.

New trees,
planting specification to LPA approval.

Existing trees retained.

Indicative existing tree canopy / green
margin cut back/trimmed.

Site Plan Key

Asphalt private driveway and parking
spaces to engineer's design.

Concrete slab private paths to
engineer's design.

Existing adjacent properties.

Space for Local Authority wheelie bins.

Timber shed, 1830 x 1220.

Rotary washing line.

Boundary treatments. Refer to current issue of
drawing K943-018 for proposed boundary
treatment plans.
Line of Culvert and easement, as engineer's
design.

Type No.Accomodation Area Storeys

A 61B2P Apartments 46.7 & 54.3 2 x 1

B 32B3P Bungalow 56.1 1

C 122B4P House 69.4 2

D/D1 183B5P House 80.7 2

E 24B6P House 96.3 2

41TOTAL

Total Car Parking Spaces: 80

Schedule of Accommodation

N

Mapping contents (c) Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100035207
Survey information from Survey, Barry Lowe Survey LTD.

D1

D

D

D

D

D

D

D

C
C

C
C

E

B

A
A

C

D

D

B

B

C

C
C

D1

D

E

D1

D

A

A

AA

C

C

C

C

D

D

D

D

Plot 1

Plot 2Plot 3Plot 4Plot 5

Plot 8

Plot 9

Plot 10

Plot 11

Plot 14

Plot 15

Plot 12

Plot 13

Plot 6

Plot 7

Plot

18
-19

Plot

20
-21

Plot 2
3

Plot 2
2

Plot 3
1

Plot 3
2

Plot 33

Plot 34

Plot 35

Plot 36

Plot 37

Plot 38

Plot

39-40

Plot 41

Plot 2
4

Plot 2
5

Plot 27

Plot 26

Plot 2
8

Plot 2
9

Plot 3
0

Pl
ot

 16

Plot 17

-
First Issue

20-01-20 AR AR JP

A
Layout amended to include additional allocated parking.

10-02-20 AR JPAR

B
Site layout amended to include for drainage easement and plot
43-45 block replaced with Block Type A - C. North boundary hedge
retained.

11-03-20 AR JPAR

C
Schedule of accommodation amended.

13-04-20 JP KDJP

D
Parking layout amended and allocated parking reassigned. Parking
numbers updated.

17-04-20 AR AR JP

E
Layout amended following feedback from the LPA. Number of units
reduced to 41 and eastern access road updated.

01-07-20 AR AR JP

F
Tree/shrub layout amended to coordinated with the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy.

27-07-20 AR AR JP

G
Entrance to westernmost entrance updated following feedback from
Highways. Existing tree canopy size updated following site visit.

17-09-20 AR AR JP

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Central & Country
Developments Ltd.

Project No. - Drawing No. - Rev.

K943-030(D)

Client

Date

Draw
n

Che
cke

d

App
rov

edRevisions

Proposed Street Elevations
Drawing Title

Project

Wellington Road, Muxton

DJD Architects
2 St Oswald's Road, Worcester  WR1 1HZ
t: 01905 612864   f: 01905 610011
mail@djdgroup.co.uk
www.djdgroup.co.uk/architects/

Drawing Scale & Format

Drawing Status

PLANNING

pdf

1:200 @ A1 dwg

NOTE:
Do not scale except for planning purposes.  All dimensions to be checked on
site.  This drawing is copyright and may not be reproduced without written
consent.

All works to be carried out in accordance with relevant British and European
Standards and Codes of Practice.  All products to be CE marked and used in
accordance with manufacturer's recommendations and applicable BBA
certificates.  Any conflicts to be notified to the architect immediately.

This drawing to be read in conjunction with all relevant Architect's and other
Specialists drawings, details and specifications.

1:50
1:100
1:200
1:500

0
0
0
0

0.5m
1m
2m
5m

1
2
4

10

1.5
3
6

15

2
4
8

20

3.5m
7m

14m
35m

1:1,250
1:2,500

0
0

10m
20m

20
40

30
60

40
80

50
100

90m
180m

2.5
5

10
25

3
6

12
30

60
120

70
140

80
160

Steet Elevation 1

Steet Elevation 1

35

31

10

8

30a

32a

27

24

3232

34

25

28

38

LB

29

22

SC
H

O
O

L R
O

AD

WELL
IN

GTON R
OAD

16a

Treasure Trove

22a

22b

Shelter

21

19

25

Car Park

KINGSLEY DRIVE

2

4

5

1

2

6

16

2

CHISW
ICK COURT

10

Unit
s

1

2

19a

20a

18

18a

20

16

3

16

PO

TRAFALGAR CLOSE

WELLINGTON ROAD

WELLINGTON ROAD

Street Elevation 2

Street Elevation 2 Street Elevation 3

Street Elevation 3

20mm projecting brick band detail to
match plot specific facing brickwork.

Material Key

Refer to drawing K943-017 Proposed Material Plan
(current issue) for plot specific information.

Refer to drawing K943-017 Proposed Material Plan
(current issue) for plot specific information.

WALLS

BRICK DETAILING

ROOFS

Front Entrance Doors:
Anthracite grey composite.

Windows and Secondary Doors:
Anthracite grey PVCu.
Obscure glazing to all WCs and bathrooms.

Fascias and Soffits: Anthracite grey PVCu

Rainwater Goods: Black PVCu.

Entrance Canopies: Anthracite grey PVCu/GRP.

Chimneys: Brick slips GRP.

Red facing brickwork
to LPA approval

Chalk coloured render to
LPA approval.

Russell Bute cottage red interlocking
thin edge concrete roof tiles.

Russell Bute peat brown interlocking thin
edge concrete roof tiles.

Plot 31 Plot 32 Plot 33

No4. Kingsley DriveNo. 19a Wellington Road

STREET ELEVATION 2 - WESTERN DEVELOPMENT

No. 2 Trafalgar Close

Plot 18 - 21 Plot 22 Plot 23 Plot 24 Plot 25

No. 25 Wellington Road

STREET ELEVATION 3 - EASTERN DEVELOPMENT

25/27 Wellington Road
Plot 5 Plot 4 Plot 3 Plot 2 Plot 1Plot 6 Access to Eastern Site

21 Wellington Road
Access to Western Site

23 Wellington Road 

STREET ELEVATION 1 - WELLINGTON ROAD

-
First Issue

20-01-20 AR

Street Elevation Key

AR JP

A
Street elevation 3 amended to reflect layout change.

10-02-20 AR AR JP

B
Street elevation amended to reflect proposed levels & layout
change.

13-03-20 AR AR

C
Street elevation amended to reflect layout change.

07-07-20 AR AR

JP

JP

D
Tree/shrub layout amended to coordinated with the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy.

27-07-20 AR AR

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



character

determined
for
discharge

planning
conditions

3

0

a

3

2

a

2

7

2

4

2

5

2

8

W

E

L

L

I

N

G

T

O

N

 

R

O

A

D

2

2

a

2

2

b

2

1

1

9

2

5

Car Park

K

I

N

G

S

L

E

Y

 

D

R

I

V

E

2

5

1

2

6

1

6

C

H

I

S

W

I

C

K

 

C

O

U

R

T

1

0

1

9

a

W

E

L

L

I

N

G

T

O

N

 

R

O

A

D

W

E

L

L

I

N

G

T

O

N

 

R

O

A

D

4

4

3

3

7

7

8

8

9

9

1

0

1

0

1

1

1

1

1

2

1

2

1

3

1

3

1

4

1

4

1

5

1

5

3

2

3

2

3

2

3

3

3

3

3

4

3

4

3

5

3

5

3

6

3

6

3

7

3

7

3

8

3

8

3

9

4

0

4

1

4

1

v

6

6

1

5

5

1

2

2

2

9

2

9

2

8

2

8

3

1

3

1

3

0

3

0

2

7

2

7

1

2

2

2

2

2

3

2

3

2

4

2

4

1

8

1

9

2

0

2

1

V

1

6

1

6

1

7

1

7

2

5

2

5

2

6

2

6

T1

G3

T4

T2

T3

G6

10m 25m5m 15m 20m0

Notes
1. Do not scale from this drawing.
2. All dimensions and setting out are subject to detailed design. Any discrepancies to be
reported to Red Kite Network Limited immediately.
3. If in any doubt, ask.
4. This drawing and the works depicted are copyrighted and no duplication may be made
without prior concent from Red Kite Network Limited.
5. Not to be used for construction.

Scale 1:500 @ A2

N

Central and Country
Developments Ltd

351.19.02 rev B

351.19 Land off Wellington
Road, Muxton

Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy

July 2020

PLANNING

CLIENT:

NUMBER:

PROJECT:

DRAWING:

DATE:

STATUS:

KL/JB

NH

DRAWN:

CHECKED:

Bat Boxes - Trees
Installation:

1 no. 1FF Schwegler bat box. The bat box
will be installed on the large tree in the
southwest corner as it will shelter the box
from strong winds and will be exposed to
the sun for part of the day (usually south
or south west aspects). The box will be
placed in maintained dark corridors and at
a height greater than 4m above ground.

Maintenance:

Each winter the bat box should be
inspected by a suitable qualified ecologist.
The bat box should be approached with
care and an assessment made to
determine if bat species have been or are
present. If bats are absent, the bat box
should  be cleared of any debris or detritus
and any minor repairs made to fixings etc.
If bats are present, then the box should be
left undisturbed.

Bird Boxes - Trees

1FF Schwegler Bat Box

Bat Boxes - Residential Houses
Installation:

6no Ibstock Enclosed Bat Box C (215mm x
215mm x 105mm) will be installed on 4
residential dwellings. The bat box is
designed to be incorporated directly into
the fabric of the brick work of new houses
and is maintenance free i.e.
droppings/debris will fall to the ground.

Bat boxes should be installed on properties
adjacent to bat commuting or foraging
habitats such as hedgerows or open spaces
and built up areas should be avoided. The
boxes should be located at least 4m above
ground level and orientated away from
strong winds but unshaded for most of the
day; usually south westerly or south
positioning.

Maintenance:

There are no regular maintenance
requirements for this type of bat box.

Kent Bat Box Ibstock
Enclosed Bat Box C

Installation:

2 no. 1B Schwegler bird boxes (with varying
entrance holes) will be installed. The bird boxes
will be installed on trees at least 2m above
ground level to deter predators / human
interference. The boxes will be installed on trees
sheltered from the prevailing wind, rain and
strong sunlight, usually north west orientation
depending on available shade/tree cover.

Maintenance:

Each winter the bird boxes should be inspected by
a suitable qualified ecologist. The bird boxes
should be assessed to determine if bird breeding
birds have been present. Repairs to the box
should be made and fixings secured. If there is no
evidence of a nest, then any internal
debris/detritus should be removed.

Bat and Bird Boxes
Bird and bat boxes will be installed within public open space and
residential properties to provide dedicated roosting opportunities for
both species. The installation and positioning of the bat and bird boxes
will be in accordance with the location plan and will be overseen by
the appointed Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW), Red Kite Network
Limited.

Bats and birds are legally protected species. If there is likely to be
disturbance or interference with bat roosts and nesting birds, then the
ECoW should be contacted in the first instance for advice.

ECoW:  Red Kite Network Limited Tel: 01952 58211 or Email:
info@redkitenetwork.co.uk

Hibernacula
Creation of a hibernacula using site saved logs, branches,
rocks and bricks to create cover and additional structure
to the existing habitat for reptiles and invertebrates. To
be placed in a sunny position against the proposed native
hedge.

Creation:
Dig a hole about 50cm deep and 1.5 metres across. Fill
with logs, branches, bricks and rocks, leaving plenty of
gaps in between.
Insert entrance tubes (drainpipes) at ground level into
the hole. Cover the pile with soil (to about 50cm high).
Plant meadow seeds or long grasses over the mound to
create a feast for summer pollinators.

Existing vegetation trimmed back
to maintain a 10m length garden

Existing vegetation line
retained at side of properties

Native Shrub Planting
520m2 of Native Planting: planted at 4/m2

40% Crataegus monogyna - support more than 300 insects. It is the
foodplant for caterpillars of many moths. Its flowers are eaten by
dormice and provide nectar and pollen for bees and other pollinating
insects. The haws are rich in antioxidants and are eaten by migrating
birds, such as redwings, fieldfares and thrushes, as well as small
mammals. The dense, thorny foliage makes fantastic nesting shelter
for many species of bird.

10% Corylus avellana - Hazel leaves provide food for the caterpillars of
moths. Coppiced hazel also provides shelter for ground-nesting birds,
such as the nightingale, nightjar, yellowhammer and willow warbler.
Hazel has long been associated with the dormouse Not only are
hazelnuts eaten by dormice to fatten up for hibernation, but in spring
the leaves are a good source of caterpillars, which dormice also eat.
Hazelnuts are also eaten by bird species and small mammals.

10% Ilex aquifolium- Holly provides dense cover and good nesting
opportunities for birds, while its deep, dry leaf litter may be used by

Ps

Bp Bp

*

Sa

Sa

Pa

Pa

Pa
Sa

*

*

*

Ps

Bp

Sa

SaPa

Pa

Sa

Sa

Pa

Sa

*

hedgehogs and small mammals for hibernation. The flowers provide
nectar and pollen for bees and other pollinating insects. The leaves are
eaten by caterpillars of various moths. The berries are a vital source of
food for birds in winter, and small mammals, such as wood mice and
dormice.

20% Viburnum lantana - Birds will eat the berries and insects such as
hoverflies feed on the nectar. The larvae of several moth species will
feed on the leaves.

20% Viburnum opulus - Guelder Rose's red berries are an important
food source for birds, including bullfinch and mistle thrush. The shrub
canopy provides shelter for other wildlife. The flowers are especially
attractive to hoverflies.

58m2 Species Rich Meadow Grass Seeding: Cornfield annual mix

Each year:

· The meadow area to be allowed to grow to flowering height and
disperse seed heads.

· Prior to cutting and bailing, all litter, detritus and debris to be
removed and disposed off site.

· Thereafter on no more than one occasion per year, in late July or
August of each year meadow to be cut using suitable flail,
reciprocating blade or drum mower.

· All arising to be allowed to dry, bailed and removed off site.

A 1m wide strip for maintenance will be cut approximately 8-10 times
between April and September each year to maintain an even sward
height of no greater than 100mm.

Tree planting
Native Trees in General Amenity Spaces:

4No. Betula pedula - provides food and habitat for more
than 300 insect species – the leaves attracting aphids which provide
food for ladybirds and other species further up the food chain. The
leaves are also a food plant for the caterpillars of many moths.
Woodpeckers and other hole-nesting birds often nest in the trunk,
while the seeds are eaten by siskins and greenfinches.

2No. Pinus sylvestris - It is one of only three native conifers, and our
only native pine. It is the perfect habitat for Red Squirrels. Scots Pines
are already found on Site

6No. Prunus avium - The spring flowers provide an early source of
nectar and pollen for bees; while the cherries are eaten by birds,
including the blackbird and song thrush; as well as mammals, such as
the badger, wood mouse, yellow-necked mouse and dormouse. The
foliage is the main food plant for caterpillars of many species of moth.

8No. Sorbus aucuparia - Providing food for a number of moth
caterpillars. Flowers provide pollen and nectar for bees and other
pollinating insects, while the berries are a rich source of autumn food
for birds, especially the blackbird, mistle thrush, and other bird
species.

6No. General amenity tree planting:

Small tree specie suitable for amenity value  - to be determined for
discharge of planning conditions

Ps

Bp

Pa

Sa

*

Ornamental shrub and herbaceous plant species suitable for amenity
value that are single flowering and attract insects. Where possible,
species of native and local provenance that reflect the local landscape
character - to be determined for discharge of planning conditions

Existing vegetation retained

Existing vegetation trimmed back to achieve 10m length rear gardens
and side access to residential properties

Native shrub planting

Species rich meadow

Tree planting

Bird boxes (trees)

Hibernacula

Bat boxes (trees)

Bat boxes (residential houses)

*

Bp

Category C Crown
Category C Stem
Category C Root Protection Area

Existing Trees:

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2020/0466  
Land west of Lawford Close, Off Majestic Way, Aqueduct, Telford, Shropshire 
Reserved matters application for the erection of 39no. dwellings including layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping in pursuant to outline planning permission 
TWC/2019/0487 ***AMENDED PLANS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
RECEIVED***  
 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Living Space 03/06/2020 
 
PARISH                                WARD 
Dawley Hamlets                               Dawley and Aqueduct 

THIS APPLICATION IS BEING DETERMINED AT PLANNING COMMITTEE 
FURTHER TO COMMITTEE MEMBERS RESOLVING THAT THE RESERVED 
MATTERS SHOULD BE PRESENTED TO THEM AND HAS ALSO BEEN 
REFERRED BY DAWLEY HAMLETS PARISH COUNCIL    

Online planning file: https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-
applicationsummary.aspx?Applicationnumber=TWC/2020/0466 

 
1. SUMMARY RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
1.1 It is recommended that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the 

Development Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT RESERVED 
MATTERS PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions and informatives. 
 

2. APPLICATION SITE 
 

2.1 The application site comprises an irregular shaped parcel of land comprising 
2.55ha of semi-improved pasture land with treed boundaries to the south, 
west and the majority of the northern edge. A timber stable block and barn are 
located in a relatively central point along the western edge of the site. The site 
is subject to a change in level, with an overall fall of approximately 12.5m from 
the northern tip of the site to the south western corner over a distance of 
approximately 300m, together with a variable east to west cross-fall from 
Majestic Way to The Ironbridge Way footpath.  
 

2.2 Located in the existing residential area of Aqueduct around 3km to the south 
west of Telford Town Centre, the site sits to the west of Majestic Way linking 
through to Dawley to the north and connecting routes to Madeley, Lightmoor 
and the Town Centre to the south.  
 

2.3 A Public Right of Way abuts the site to the north east linking to the mature 
tree lined Ironbridge Way (8 mile footpath linking through to Leegomery in the 
north of Telford and Ironbridge to the south) adjoining the site to the west. The 
Dawley Pools and Pit Mounds Local Nature Reserve - which was formally 
adopted in January 2019, then sits beyond this, a Green Network designation 
is also in place for this adjoining area of land and marginally tips into the 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6c

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?Applicationnumber=TWC/2020/0466
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?Applicationnumber=TWC/2020/0466


 

 

 

western and southern edges of the site, the latter forming part of a larger 
swathe of designated land.  
 

2.4 Aqueduct Primary School lies to the north east 0.3 miles on foot and 0.6 miles 
by car, with a chemist and two convenience stores along Majestic Way (0.2-
0.3 miles). The former Aqueduct surgery has closed since outline permission 
was granted, it is understood that this was led by development of a super-
practice with the nearest being Lawley, Madeley and Malinslee surgeries. 
 

2.5 The nearest residential dwellings are located to the north east of the site off 
Majestic Way and Widewater Close, together with residences off Majestic 
Way opposite looping round the inner curve of the road. With the exception of 
the adjoining bungalows to the south, dwellings comprise a two storey 
detached form. The area is characterised by suburban residential 
development interspersed with greenspace. 

 
3. APPLICATION DETAILS 

 
3.1 Reserved Matters consent is sought for 39no. dwellings, comprising a mix of 

two, three and four bed units (14, 20 and 5 respectively). With the exception 
of four 2no. bed bungalows, all units would be two storey. The application 
material identifies that development will be a 100% affordable scheme. The 
tenure split has not been determined at the point of the application and would 
be agreed at a later date. The single point of vehicular access was set by the 
preceding outline scheme (TWC/2019/0487), and a series of raised tables 
installed along Majestic Way fronting the site; with details of the appearance, 
landscaping, layout, and scale of the proposal sought. 
 

3.2 The units propose a principally brick finish, with a third of the plots comprising 
a light rendered finish, all include a central band detail, a mix of canopy and 
pitch roof porches, brick header and sill detailing. The developable area sits to 
the north and east of the site, with landscaping wrapping around the western 
areas comprising a grassland / woodland buffer, together with an existing 
sewer easement.  
 

3.3 The houses would be set within two sections either side of the initial stretch of 
access road, to the north comprising fourteen units fronting Majestic Way, the 
estate road and at the western side four along a private drive. The remaining 
twenty five units would comprise back to back units along Majestic Way and 
then set eastwards towards the woodland boundary. A SUDs attenuation 
feature would sit towards the south western corner. A gravel footpath linking 
Majestic Way through to the Ironbridge Way has been carried through to this 
application in line with the parameters set through the outline permission. A 
grassland area, with a series of mown paths running through it, would sit 
between the path and the southern units.  
 

3.4 The application is accompanied by a Design & Access Statement, Planning 
Statement, Nationally Described Space Standards Compliance Template, 
Slope Stability Declaration Form, Construction Environmental Management 
Plan, Arboricultural Assessment, Ecological Appraisal Extended Phase 1 

Page 90



 

 

 

Report, Response to Ecological Queries document, and Landscape 
Management Plan.  
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

4.1 TWC/2019/0487 Outline application for residential development of up to 39 
dwellings and access from Majestic Way with all other matters reserved. 
Outline Granted 10/03/2020. 
 
Pre-application enquiry: 

 
4.2 PE/2020/0090 Residential Development of up to 39no. dwellings and access 

from Majestic Way and residential development for additional 11no. dwellings 
* Pursuant to outline application TWC/2019/0487 *. 
 

5. RELEVANT POLICY DOCUMENTS 
 

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

5.2 Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 
 

6. NEIGHBOUR AND LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS  
 

6.1 A total of eight neighbour representations have been received to the 1st 
consultation (neighbour notification, press notice and site notice) raising the 
following summarised issues: 
 

 Highways impacts - increase in traffic, impact on local highway network, 
difficulty crossing road, proposed parking spaces limited in number 

 Importance of greenspace – particularly given events of 2020, value of 
land for horse grazing, incorporate into LNR 

 Lack of need – sufficient development and sites elsewhere 

 Impact on wildlife 

 Impact of construction – current emphasis on people working from home, 
impact on mental health 

 Insufficient infrastructure in the locality and hospital under pressure 

 Management of drainage from site unclear – floods of 2020 saw 
Widewaters Pool and Little Dawley Pools at capacity 

 Noise pollution 

 Pointless to object. 
 

6.2 Further to receipt of the amended layout and further ecology coverage, a 2nd 
consultation took place with 41 objections received, raising the following 
additional issues: 
 

 Highway impacts - proposed parking adjacent to highway and on a bend, 
obstruction to emergency vehicles and buses 

 Horses have lost their home 

 Reduction in the number of ponds – SUDs pond will not support 

Page 91



 

 

 

amphibians 

 Contamination of stream to south from site 

 Design not in keeping with surrounding detached properties  
 
During the 2nd consultation a link to an online petition has also been sent in: 
https://www.change.org/p/telford-and-wrekin-council-stop-the-planning-
permission-for-houses-on-open-greenland-by-dawley-pools-nature-
reserve?recruiter=22811766&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copy
link&utm_campaign=share_petition&utm_term=share_petition commenting 
Please see petition with over 2000 signatories and comments 

 
6.3  The Friends of Dawley Hamlets Local Nature Reserve: Object subject to 

conditions: 
Ask for the following ecological concerns to be raised and discussed during 
the planning committee:  

 

 Designation of the LNR was not in place when the report was written; 
should this be reviewed now? 

 Observations of nature not addressed fully in the Ecological survey and 
report  

 Retention and enhancement of the bordering woodland is key; particularly 
for the GCN population; reassurances sought that the Group will be 
involved in these steps?  

 Section 106 money – confirmation sought during the committee meeting 
that the allocated figure £52,900 for ecology has been acknowledged as 
part of the Reserve Matters stage. How much of this will go directly 
towards supporting the Nature Reserve with the proposed movement of 
wildlife to the area and maintaining the Green corridor? 

 
6.4        CPRE: Object 

 

 use of greenfield site when a suitable brownfield site available less than 1 
mile away in Lightmoor Road 

 Contrary to Telford & Wrekin Local Plan – including the Borough Profile 
2.1.3. and 2.2.2., 6.2.2., Policy NE2  

 need of open space for existing residents  

 Access to the existing residents to the amenity to the west of this 
development is severely restricted. There is no open land in that area 

 Impact on wildlife – sufficient buffer zone to LNR, designation not started 
when original planning went in 

 Tree retention plan does also not address the requirement that ratio 2:1 
and native species provision 

 Vagueness of Landscaping Proposals plans  

 Query around continued maintenance of open space and pool 

 Insufficient road width 

 Concern that this proposed development is highly likely to commit an 
offence disrupting the high population of the wildlife if Natural England 
Risk Assessment Tool is applied. 
 

Page 92

https://www.change.org/p/telford-and-wrekin-council-stop-the-planning-permission-for-houses-on-open-greenland-by-dawley-pools-nature-reserve?recruiter=22811766&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_campaign=share_petition&utm_term=share_petition
https://www.change.org/p/telford-and-wrekin-council-stop-the-planning-permission-for-houses-on-open-greenland-by-dawley-pools-nature-reserve?recruiter=22811766&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_campaign=share_petition&utm_term=share_petition
https://www.change.org/p/telford-and-wrekin-council-stop-the-planning-permission-for-houses-on-open-greenland-by-dawley-pools-nature-reserve?recruiter=22811766&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_campaign=share_petition&utm_term=share_petition
https://www.change.org/p/telford-and-wrekin-council-stop-the-planning-permission-for-houses-on-open-greenland-by-dawley-pools-nature-reserve?recruiter=22811766&utm_source=share_petition&utm_medium=copylink&utm_campaign=share_petition&utm_term=share_petition


 

 

 

7. STATUTORY REPRESENTATIONS (SUMMARISED) 
 

7.1 Dawley Hamlets Parish Council: Object and Called in the application: 
 

 Procedure - during the outline planning committee meeting, it was 
confirmed that the application would go before the planning committee at 
the Reserve Matters Stage 

 During the debate some Members raised concerns regarding increased 
traffic, potential risk of flooding from the reservoir, loss of trees, inadequate 
drainage, impact on wildlife, the replacement wall which would need to be 
10ft high, unsuitability of the site, insufficient parking and it was asked if a 
speed reduction scheme could be introduced and asked if there could be a 
deferral or refusal for this to be looked at 

 Level of objection - appropriate for this to be heard before the Planning 
Committee 

 Loss of one of the few green spaces left in Aqueduct 

 Local primary school is full in some year groups 

 Aqueduct medical practice has now closed 

 No footpath on the planning application side of Majestic Way leading to 
Castlefields roundabout forcing pedestrians to cross Majestic Way at least 
twice to cross the bypass to walk to Madeley  

 Traffic will increase on Castlefields roundabout which is already gridlocked 
at peak times 

 Majestic Way is already a busy road, parents park there to pick up and 
collect their children from Madeley Academy and residents park on the 
road and across the pavements due to inadequate private parking. 

 New junction and house drive access which will increase traffic and the 
chance of accidents 

 Effect the development would have on wildlife in the area including a 
population of great crested newts 

 Tree retention plan does not appear to address the 2:1 planting ratio for 
every tree removed using local species 

 Effect of development on Dawley Hamlets Nature Reserve which sits next 
to the site   

 Concern development may cause flooding. 
 

7.2 Highways, Drainage, Ecology and Healthy Spaces – Support subject to 
conditions  

 
7.3       Shropshire Council Policy & Environment Sustainability Group: No comment 
 
7.4 Shropshire Fire Service - Comment requesting swept path analysis 

undertaken for the development and standard informative requested. 
 
7.5 West Mercia Police – Comment with standard informative requested. 
 
8. APPRAISAL 

 
8.1 Having regard to the development plan policy and other material 

Page 93



 

 

 

considerations including comments received during the consultation process, 
the planning application raises the following main issues: 

 

 Design including levels and impact on the amenity of adjacent properties  

 Trees and Ecology 

 Highways impacts 

 Drainage 

 Other matters 
 

8.2 Officers note that a number of neighbour representations object to the 
principle of the development, including a lack of local infrastructure and the 
loss of the greenspace entailed. The access point has raised further objection. 
The site being brought forward for development has however been 
established through grant of the outline scheme with the access point set at 
that point, this application being around the details of a scheme.  
 

8.3 From the pre-application history identified above, it is apparent that a greater 
quantum of development had been a potential and subsequent option, it is 
understood that the varied levels at the southern end and further constraints 
(shadowing, easement, etc.) would not make this a realistic prospect; the LPA 
had identified its opposition to a greater level of development coming forward 
and have sought greater detail around the use of the open space towards the 
southern end of the site with an active recreational use for the locality now 
shown.  

 
Design including levels and impact on the amenity of adjacent properties  

 
8.4 Whilst the outline scheme did not include the approval of layout, providing an 

indicative layout only, it did set a number of principles key to the consideration 
of a subsequent Reserved Matters (RM) application. A condition was imposed 
that the submission of the RM application and the implementation of the 
development, be carried out in substantial accordance with a Landscape and 
Habitat Principles Plan, Site Constrains Plan, and the principles of the Design 
& Access Statement.  

 
8.5 The current application has taken on board the shadowing influence of the 

adjacent woodland to the west and south, with development sitting outside of 
the relevant area, as well as, away from the drainage easement. A footpath 
through to the Ironbridge Way has been maintained, and the existing trees to 
the north (with the exception of one), south, and west retained and protected 
as necessary.  

 
 8.6 Amendment has been sought to reflect a more comparable density to 

development along Majestic Way, with the LPA raising concern as to the 
proposals in this regard at the pre-application stage amounting to 44 dwellings 
per hectare (dph).  

 
8.7 This was then reduced to 39dph at the outset of the application, but remained 

well above that in the immediate locality at around 31dph, and was considered 
to represent overdevelopment of the developed area. Further, the emphasis 

Page 94



 

 

 

across the site as a whole remained on provision of semi-detached units, with 
the Committee report for the outline scheme having reflected a clear need for 
a presence of detached units more aligned with the street pattern along 
Majestic Way.   

 
8.8 By taking up more of the land at the southern end though still avoiding the 

steepest area where a large amount of additional groundworks would be 
entailed, and shifting the developed area north where the site is flatter, a 
reduction to 35dph has been secured. A crescent arrangement is retained 
along Majestic Way. Additional planting to the end of the inner road at each 
end of the site proposed to provide a focal point further to concern by the LPA 
as to a lack of punctuation of the vistas, ideally built development would have 
been provided but is not achievable due to the levels context at the southern 
end, and the potential fit with the other units at the northern end. 

 
8.9 Balanced with a varied housing mix of 2, 3 and 4 bed units, as sought through 

the application of TWLP Policy HO4, the approach is considered acceptable. 
The properties meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) as 
further necessitated by this policy. Minimum garden sizes of 52m² (2-beds) 
and 74m² (3+ beds) have also been surpassed.  

 
8.10 The elevational treatment has been adjusted to incorporate a variety of porch 

styles, including wider feature ones appreciating the presence of full width 
canopies along Majestic Way, with a band detail added. Brick headers would 
be present on a number of plots, together with a brick plinth on the feature 
rendered units, which have been incorporated to provide a contrast within the 
development. A mix of grey and brown roof tiles, and bricks is sought, again 
for contrast. Tweaking of the elevational detailing between the detached 
frontage units has been sought, together with repositioning of a detached unit 
to avoid a full run of these set next to a full run of semidetached units, to avoid 
monotony in the streetscene. 

 
8.11 Walled boundaries are proposed along more extensive enclosed stretches 

within the streetscene at strategic points, including along the initial stretch of 
road between the front and back line of development, in part combined with 
fencing inserts to break up the solid run of boundary. As per the principle 
established at the outline stage, appropriate corner turner properties are used 
incorporating gable windows and doors to form an active elevation to each 
street. A mixture of front and side parking has been utilised as per a request 
of the LPA, with a greater emphasis on the latter now, further to concern as to 
the dominance of parking within the streetscape.  

 
8.12 Additional planting and mown footpaths have been designed for the southern 

open space in order to provide a more scenic setting for the new pedestrian 
link and to provide a transitional space between the new development and the 
existing woodland area. 
 

8.13 The topography of the site, alongside the inclusion of a number of bungalows 
will provide a varied ridgeline across the development. A varied building line, 

Page 95



 

 

 

as per the pattern of development locally, is provided through the proposed 
layout. 

 
8.14 The separation distances between proposed plots has been amended through 

the course of the application, particularly led by the levels present across the 
site, needing to provide sufficient privacy between habitable windowed 
elevations, and private rear amenity. Units on the rear crescent have been 
drawn forward, and offset as much as possible. Whilst distances do fall 
slightly below the guide of a 2m increase in separation for every 1 metre rise 
in ground level, the offset angles, the context of an element of occupant 
awareness entailing a new to new property, on balance the approach is 
judged acceptable.  

 
8.15 Relating to existing properties on Majestic Way, with the exception of unit 8 to 

138 Majestic Way opposite, a minimum separation distance of 22 metres is 
provided (unit 4). The majority being over 24 metres, and the units modestly 
turned to avoid a direct on perspective. For plot 8, the separation distance 
stands at 19.5m at the closest point to the neighbour opposite, both properties 
are however set at an angle to avoid a direct on view and is therefore 
considered acceptable. Side elevations to the north including onto Widewaters 
Close entail bathrooms only, distances exceed 12m with a footpath in 
between.  

 
8.16 The development entails the provision of retaining walls along the garden 

boundary between the front and rear for plots at the southern end as an 
approach anticipated through the outline scheme, this comprises 600mm max 
at the southern end, down to 400mm between plots 6 and 34. The 
development does entail some gardens with a gradient, and four units with a 
modest element of terracing between a patio area and the remainder of the 
garden to the extent of four steps only. Critically, this is without significant 
reworking of the site which would be considerably costly and change the 
relationship of the site to the adjacent woodland to a much greater extent than 
entailed through the proposed arrangement. The application is accompanied 
by a completed slope stability declaration form endorsing that the structural 
integrity of the development will not be compromised by slope instability and 
can tolerate the ground conditions by special design as required by TWLP 
Policy BE9. 

 
8.17 Officers consider the proposal to represent an on balance position relating to 

its design. The site frontage would feature an emphasis of detached units, or 
semi-detached units designed to imitate detached units, to tie in with the 
pattern of detached properties along Majestic Way. A mix of properties would 
then be provided across the remainder of the site, including an element of 
variation in the architectural detailing, proposed materials, ridge and building 
line. Sufficient separation distances have been secured to existing properties 
in the locality, and between on-site properties appreciating an element of 
occupant awareness. The application is accompanied by a slope stability 
declaration form. Officers are satisfied that the requirements TWLP Policies 
BE1 and BE9. 

 

Page 96



 

 

 

Trees and Ecology 
 
8.18 The site plan indicates that a series of new planting will be provided within the 

front gardens of the properties, as well as across the open space at the 
southern and western edges. The northern hedge and tree boundary is to be 
reinforced and will provide an improved backdrop to the adjacent footpath, 
particularly bearing in mind the installation of a fence line to demark the new 
properties. Additional planting will sit across the southern open space, with 
measures in place to secure sufficient replacement, TWC Ecology have 
confirmed the use of sufficient native species.  

 
8.19  Officers consider that sufficient detail has been provided for the purpose of 

landscaping requirements of a reserved matters scheme, with additional detail 
/ amendment to be provided in order to fully discharge the landscaping and 
landscape management plan conditions of the outline approval. This includes 
details as to the Management Company for the ongoing maintenance of the 
landscaping, and how it is to be financed (e.g. service charge), and a longer 
maintenance schedule as sought by TWC Healthy Spaces, and in part 
queried by CPRE.  

 
8.20 The proposed ecological enhancements on site are in line with the principles 

set out / agreed at the outline planning stage. It is acknowledged that, 
although the placement of ecological enhancement has been altered, the 
‘area’ proposed is equivalent to that agreed through the outline.  

 
8.21 Relating to comments made by Friends of Dawley Hamlets Local Nature 

Reserve and CPRE, TWC Ecology confirm that the designation of LNR has 
been taken into consideration when commenting on this application, both at 
outline and RM planning stage. Simply Ecology Ltd have undertaken 
extensive ecological survey work at the proposed site, and TWC Ecology are 
satisfied that the proposal has been designed in light of the ecological 
findings. The boundary features will be retained and protected during and post 
development, and the grassland areas proposed will be managed to a higher 
biodiversity value than what is currently available to reptiles, and amphibians 
in their terrestrial phase i.e. from a grazed pasture to an annual cut wildflower 
meadow.  

 
8.22 Additional planting on site will be managed in accordance with a habitat 

management plan. The costings of which have been secured for the lifetime of 
the development as part of the planning application process. The section 106 
financial contribution will feed directly into the LNR management, this will 
ensure that increase visitor pressure does not have a negative impact on this 
important biodiverse site and it will help enhance Telford’s Green Network. 
Regarding CPRE’s concern as to application of the Natural England Risk 
Assessment, TWC Ecology have considered the proposal under the Habitats 
and Species Regulations and concluded that the favourable conservation 
status of GCN in the local area will be maintained.   

 
8.23 Officers are duly content that subject to the extant conditioning of the outline 

permission, the biodiversity value and arboricultural context of the site and its 

Page 97



 

 

 

surroundings will not be negatively impacted upon by the proposal in 
accordance with TWLP Policies NE1 and NE2.  

 
Highways impacts 
 

8.24 The principle of development of up to 39 dwellings on the site was established 
with outline permission, including access. Subsequently, highways conditions 
pertaining to access visibility and requisite off-site highway works along 
Majestic Way in vicinity to the site frontage were secured as part of the outline 
permission. The primary highways consideration of this RM application 
therefore lies with the internal development layout in terms of parking and 
manoeuvrability.                       

8.25 With regards to the quantum of parking across the site, the proposals meet 
the Local Plan parking standards, with 81 spaces required and 81 spaces 
provided, with no objection having been raised to the configuration of parking.                        

8.26 On this basis, the Local Highway Authority make no objections to the 

proposals, subject to conditions around the detailed design for the highways 

works, and the timing of parking, both are controlled through the outline 

permission. Having regard to the above, the LPA is satisfied that the scheme 

accords with the requirements of TWLP Policies C3 and C5. 

          Drainage 
 

8.27 The application proposes that both foul and surface water will be connected to 
mains sewer towards the south western corner of the site, the latter further to 
being run through an attenuation pond, and noting concern as to potential 
contamination of a small stream to the south of the site in local representation. 
In line with condition 4. of the outline permission, a SuDs maintenance 
technical note, surface water calculations and drainage strategy have been 
provided. TWC Drainage have no objection in principle to the information 
provided, with a detailed drainage design controlled through a condition 
imposed on the outline permission, thus ensuring compliance with TWLP 
Policies ER11 and ER12. 
 
Other Matters 
 

8.28 Concern as to the impact of the construction phase has been raised within 
neighbour representation, particularly related to an increased emphasis on 
working from home. Details have been provided by the applicant, with 
measures proposed related to controls around noise and dust generated, and 
operational hours; all being in line with a generally accepted approach. 
Further detail has been requested around the location of the site compound in 
order to discharge the relevant Site Environmental Management Plan of the 
outline permission. The LPA recognises that delivery of a development does 
impact on neighbouring properties, with the applicant required to demonstrate 
mitigation measures to reduce the impact entailed as much as possible.  

 
 

Page 98



 

 

 

9. CONCLUSIONS  
 

9.1 The Reserved Matters application has brought forward a scheme that is 
compliant with the outline approval. Further to amendment, with the provision 
of detached accommodation on the site along Majestic Way and a greater 
land take up at the southern end of the site, a balanced approach to density 
and providing a range of housetypes has been secured. Sufficient separation 
distances can be provided between new and existing properties, together with 
between the onsite plots having particular regard to the level changes 
entailed, to sufficiently protect residential amenity. Property sizes both relating 
to internal layouts and garden sizes are have achieved levels sought by the 
LPA.  

 
9.2 The application has added an additional layer of detail around the ecological, 

highways and drainage context of the site, with further control through 
conditions remaining in place from the outline approval, in order to satisfy 
technical concerns. Officers are satisfied that matters relating to further 
detailing are sufficiently covered through conditioning remaining from the 
outline permission together with proposed conditioning around materials. The 
proposal is therefore deemed to be compliant with the Telford & Wrekin Local 
Plan 2011-2031 and the guidance contained within the NPPF.  
 

10.  DETAILED RECOMMENDATION  
 

10.1  Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning 
Committee on this application is to GRANT RESERVED MATTERS 
PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions (with authority to 
finalise conditions and reasons for approval to be delegated to the 
Development Management Service Delivery Manager):- 

1. Time Limit – Reserved Matters 
2. Materials samples 
3. Brick sample panel 
4. Development in accordance with approved plans (no approval of landscaping 

plan, drainage plans) 
 

With the following conditions of the outline permission remaining in place: 

1. Time limit – Outline 
9.  Geotechs – Foundation Design 
10.  Road Design 
11. Off-site highways (details to be approved) 
12. Parking, turning, loading and unloading of vehicles – implementation     

still relevant 
13. Foul and Surface Water Drainage 
14. SUDs Management Plan 
15. Landscaping Design 
16. Landscape Management Plan (long term) 
17.  Habitat Creation and Management Plan 
18. European Protected Species Licence 
19. Site Environmental Management Plan  

Page 99



 

 

 

20. Visibility Splays  
21. Protective Fencing Trees 
22. Tree Replacements 
23. Lighting Strategy  
24. Artificial Bird Boxes/Bat Roosts. 

 

 
 
 

Page 100



SHEET SIZE DATE

DRAWING TITLE

SITE LOCATION PLAN

A4 04.01.20

www.umaa-a.com
design@umaa-a.com
0121 233 3355

Architecture ŸMasterplanning ŸUrban Design
Umaa Architecture Limited, Grosvenor House

11 St. Paul's Square, Birmingham, B3 1RB

DATE

07.05.20

REV

-

DRAWN

GA

CHECKED

MD

DESCRIPTION

PLANNING ISSUE

DRAWING NORTH

ADDRESS

LAND WEST OF LAWFORD CLOSE
OFF MAJESTIC WAY
AQUEDUCT, TELFORD
SHROPSHIRE

PROJECT

PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT

umaa

architecture

KEY

SITE BOUNDARY

NOTES:
© COPYRIGHT UMAA ARCHITECTURE LTD.  DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING, USE
FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY.  CONTRACTORS TO CHECK CRITICAL DIMENSIONS RELATIVE
TO THEIR WORK AND REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT.

PLAN AS PROPOSED
1:2500

NORTH

DRAWING STATUS

PLANNING
REVISION

-D01
DRAWING NO.

01031 .

SCALE

INDICATIVE SCALE IN METRES

1:2500

0 25 50 75

P
age 101

AutoCAD SHX Text
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
154

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
LAWFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
144

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
WENTWORTH DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
SOVEREIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
MAJESTIC WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
133

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
BROADSTONE MEWS

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
HAZELWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
SCEPTRE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
ETL

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
The Iron Bridge Way

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
WIDEWATERS

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
The Wide Waters

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
Reeds

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
ETL

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
Pond



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Planning Applications for Determination
	6a TWC/2016/0555 - Land South of Loadcroft, Lincoln Hill, Ironbridge, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Location plan
	2. Proposed Site Layout
	3. Proposed Ground Floor Plan
	4. Proposed First Floor Plan
	5. Proposed Front South Elevation
	6. Proposed Side West Elevation
	7. Proposed Side East Elevation
	8. Proposed Rear North Elevation
	9. Proposed Front South Elevation including Plinth
	10. Proposed Side West Elevation including Plinth
	11. Proposed Side East Elevation including Plinth
	12. Approved Elevations for Plots off New Road, Lincoln Hill and Severn Terrace
	13. Existing Garden Layout
	14. Existing Street Elevation
	15. Existing Contours
	16. Site plan showing section locations
	17. Site Sections (1 of 4)
	18. Site Sections (2 of 4)
	19. Site Sections (3 of 4)
	20. Site Sections (4 of 4)
	21. Topographical Survey
	22. Topographical Survey showing Sewer Deetail
	23. Proposed Formation of New Access and Turning Area

	6b TWC/2020/0168 - Land adjacent 23 Wellington Road, Muxton, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Proposed Site Block Plan
	K943-016(G) -Proposed Site Block Plan

	2. Proposed Street Elevations
	K943-030(D) -Proposed Street Elevations

	3. Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy
	Sheets and Views
	Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy Revised July 2020-02 Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy



	6c TWC/2020/0466 - Land west of Lawford Close, Off Majestic Way, Aqueduct, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Location plan
	2. Proposed Site Plan
	3. Proposed Streetscenes


